ISING MODEL AND THE POSITIVE ORTHOGONAL GRASSMANNIAN

PAVEL GALASHIN AND PAVLO PYLYAVSKYY

ABSTRACT. We completely describe by inequalities the set of boundary correlation matrices of planar Ising networks embedded in a disk. Specifically, we build on a recent result of M. Lis to give a simple bijection between such correlation matrices and points in the totally nonnegative part of the orthogonal Grassmannian, which has been introduced in 2013 in the study of the scattering amplitudes of ABJM theory. We also show that the edge parameters of the Ising model for reduced networks can be uniquely recovered from boundary correlations, solving the inverse problem. Under our correspondence, Kramers–Wannier's high/low temperature duality transforms into the cyclic symmetry of the Grassmannian, and using this cyclic symmetry, we prove that the spaces under consideration are homeomorphic to closed balls. Finally, we give a new formula for boundary correlations in terms of the dimer model, which is a square root of Dubédat's bosonization identity.

Contents

1. Introduction	2
2. Main results	3
2.1. The Ising model	3
2.2. The orthogonal Grassmannian	4
2.3. An embedding	5
3. Consequences of the main construction	6
3.1. Reconstructing correlations from minors	6
3.2. Cyclic symmetry and Kramers–Wannier's duality	7
3.3. Reduction to the dimer model	9
3.4. Generalized Griffiths' inequalities	11
3.5. Inverse problem	12
4. Background on the totally nonnegative Grassmannian	16
5. The totally nonnegative orthogonal Grassmannian	20
6. From the Ising model to the orthogonal Grassmannian	28
6.1. Dubédat's bosonization identity	31
6.2. Random alternating flows of Lis	33
7. Cyclic symmetry and a homeomorphism with a ball	36
8. Generalized Griffiths' inequalities	39
9. Open problems and future directions	45
References	46

Date: August 1, 2018.

²⁰¹⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary: 82B20. Secondary: 14M15, 15B48.

Key words and phrases. Planar Ising model, total positivity, totally nonnegative Grassmannian, orthogonal Grassmannian, Kramers–Wannier's duality, ABJM scattering amplitudes, Griffiths' inequalities, electrical networks.

1. INTRODUCTION

The Ising model, introduced by Lenz in 1920 as a model for ferromagnetism and solved by Ising [Isi25] in dimension 1, plays a central role in statistical mechanics and conformal field theory. One of the main features of this model is that it undergoes a phase transition in dimensions larger than 1, and in particular its critical temperature $\frac{1}{2}\log(\sqrt{2} + 1)$ in dimension 2 has been computed by Kramers and Wannier [KW41], who found a duality transformation exchanging subcritical and supercritical temperatures. The free energy of the model was computed by Onsager [Ons44] and Yang [Yan52], and since then it became a subject of active mathematical and physical research. Conformal invariance of the scaling limit was conjectured in [BPZ84b, BPZ84a] in relation to conformal field theory, and proven more recently as a part of a series of groundbreaking results by Smirnov, Chelkak, Hongler, Izyurov, and others [Smi10, CHI15, CS12, HS13, CDCH⁺14].

Among the most important quantities associated with the Ising model are two-point and multi-point correlation functions. In particular, their limit at criticality exists and is conformally invariant [CHI15]. It was shown in [Gri67] and later generalized in [KS68] that these correlation functions satisfy natural inequalities, and in particular, an important question of characterizing correlation functions coming from the Ising model was raised in the appendix of [KS68].

A starting point for our results was recent insightful work of Lis [Lis17], where he discovered a deep connection between the planar Ising model and total positivity, and used it to prove new inequalities on boundary two-point correlation functions in the planar case. He relied on the results of Postnikov [Pos07] and Talaska [Tal08] on the *totally nonnegative Grassmannian* $\operatorname{Gr}_{\geq 0}(k, n)$, which is the subset of the Grassmannian $\operatorname{Gr}(k, n)$ of k-dimensional subspaces of \mathbb{R}^n where all Plücker coordinates are nonnegative. The space $\operatorname{Gr}_{\geq 0}(k, n)$ was introduced and studied in [Pos07], and has attracted lots of attention due to its unexpected connections to various areas such as cluster algebras and the physics of scattering amplitudes [FZ02, AHBC⁺16, AHT14, Sco06].

Despite the enormous amount of research on the planar Ising model, some basic questions seem to have remained unanswered. Let us denote by $\mathcal{X}_n \subset \operatorname{Mat}_n(\mathbb{R})$ the space of all boundary correlation matrices of planar Ising networks with n boundary nodes embedded in a disk. This is a subspace of the space $\operatorname{Mat}_n(\mathbb{R})$ of $n \times n$ matrices with real entries. Every matrix in \mathcal{X}_n is symmetric and has diagonal entries equal to 1, but \mathcal{X}_n is neither a closed nor an open subset of the space of such matrices. Let $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_n$ denote the closure of \mathcal{X}_n inside $\operatorname{Mat}_n(\mathbb{R})$, i.e., $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_n$ is the space of boundary correlation matrices of a slightly more general class of planar Ising networks, as discussed in Section 6. Two fundamental questions about $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_n$ that we answer in this paper (see Theorem 2.3) are:

- Describe $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_n$ by equalities and inequalities inside $\operatorname{Mat}_n(\mathbb{R})$.
- Describe the topology of $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_n$.

Using a construction similar to the one in [Lis17], we give a simple embedding ϕ of the space $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_n$ into a subset of $\operatorname{Gr}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$ which turns out to be precisely the *totally nonnegative* orthogonal Grassmannian, introduced in [HW13, HWX14] in the study of ABJM scattering amplitudes. This gives a solution to the first question, and then we show that $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_n$ is homeomorphic to an $\binom{n}{2}$ -dimensional closed ball using the techniques developed in [GKL17], where an analogous result (conjectured by Postnikov [Pos07]) was shown for $\operatorname{Gr}_{>0}(k, n)$.

We then apply our construction to study some other aspects of the planar Ising model. For instance, we recognize (Theorem 3.4) Kramers–Wannier's duality [KW41] as the well studied cyclic shift operation on $\operatorname{Gr}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$, and explain (Remark 3.7) the connection between the planar Ising model at critical temperature and the unique cyclically symmetric point inside $\operatorname{Gr}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$, studied in [GKL17, Kar18]. We also express (Theorem 3.14) generalized Griffiths' inequalities of [Gri67, KS68] as manifestly positive linear combinations of the Plücker coordinates of our embedding. We explain in Corollary 3.10 how the known formula for Plücker coordinates in terms of the dimer model gives a new expression for boundary correlation functions, which is related to Dubédat's formula for squared correlation functions [Dub11]. Finally, we solve the *inverse problem* in Section 3.5: given a boundary correlation matrix $M \in \operatorname{Mat}_n(\mathbb{R})$ of the Ising model on a planar graph G embedded in a disk, we show that if G is *reduced* then the edge weights of the Ising model are uniquely and explicitly determined by M.

In many aspects, our results for the planar Ising model are analogous to known results for planar electrical networks, see e.g. [CdVGV96, CIM98, Lam14, Ken12]. However, the precise relationship between the two models remains completely mysterious to us. See Section 9 for a discussion of this and other open problems motivated by our approach.

This paper is organized as follows. We state our main result (Theorem 2.3) in Section 2, and then list several applications of our construction in Section 3. We give some background on the totally nonnegative Grassmannian in Section 4, and study the totally nonnegative orthogonal Grassmannian in Section 5. After that, we prove our main results. In Section 6, we show that the formula for boundary correlations in terms of the dimer model indeed yields the same result as the embedding ϕ from Section 2. In Section 7, we prove that $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_n$ is homeomorphic to a ball and discuss the cyclic symmetry of this space. We explain how to express generalized Griffiths' inequalities as positive sums of Plücker coordinates in Section 8, and list several conjectures in Section 9.

Acknowledgments

We thank Marcin Lis, David Speyer, and Thomas Lam for their valuable comments on the first version of this manuscript.

2. Main results

2.1. The Ising model. A planar Ising network is a pair N = (G, J) where G = (V, E) is a planar graph embedded in a disk and $J : E \to \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ is a function assigning positive real numbers to the edges of G. We always label the vertices of G on the boundary of the disk by $b_1, \ldots, b_n \in V$ in counterclockwise order. Given a planar Ising network N = (G, J), the Ising model on N (with no external field and free boundary conditions) is a probability measure on the space $\{-1, 1\}^V$ of spin configurations on the vertices of G. Given a spin configuration $\sigma: V \to \{-1, 1\}$, its probability is given by

(2.1)
$$\mathbf{P}(\sigma) := \frac{1}{Z} \prod_{\{u,v\} \in E} \exp\left(J_{\{u,v\}}\sigma_u \sigma_v\right),$$

where Z is the partition function:

(2.2)
$$Z := \sum_{\sigma \in \{-1,1\}^V} \prod_{\{u,v\} \in E} \exp\left(J_{\{u,v\}}\sigma_u \sigma_v\right).$$

Our main focus will be boundary two-point correlation functions. Let $[n] := \{1, 2, ..., n\}$. Given $i, j \in [n]$, we define the corresponding correlation function by

(2.3)
$$\langle \sigma_i \sigma_j \rangle := \sum_{\sigma \in \{-1,1\}^V} \mathbf{P}(\sigma) \sigma_{b_i} \sigma_{b_j}.$$

Clearly, we have $\langle \sigma_i \sigma_j \rangle = \langle \sigma_j \sigma_i \rangle$, and if i = j then the correlation function $\langle \sigma_i \sigma_i \rangle$ is equal to 1. We denote by $\operatorname{Mat}_n^{\operatorname{sym}}(\mathbb{R}, 1) \subset \operatorname{Mat}_n(\mathbb{R})$ the space of all $n \times n$ symmetric real matrices with ones on the diagonal. Thus we obtain a matrix $M = M(G, J) := (m_{i,j}) \in \operatorname{Mat}_n^{\operatorname{sym}}(\mathbb{R}, 1)$ given by $m_{i,j} := \langle \sigma_i \sigma_j \rangle$. Let us denote

 $\mathcal{X}_n := \{ M(G, J) \mid (G, J) \text{ is a planar Ising network with } n \text{ boundary vertices} \}.$

Denote by $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_n$ the closure of \mathcal{X}_n in the space $\operatorname{Mat}_n(\mathbb{R})$ of $n \times n$ real matrices. (In other words, $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_n$ can be defined as the space of all boundary correlation matrices M(G, J) where J is allowed to take values in $[0, \infty]$, or equivalently where G is obtained from a planar graph embedded in a disk by contracting some edges that may connect boundary vertices, as we discuss in Section 6.) We will see later (Proposition 6.4) that $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_n$ admits a natural stratification into cells indexed by *matchings on* [2n], that is, by perfect matchings of the complete graph K_{2n} (also called *medial pairings*). For n = 3, all matchings on [2n] are shown in Figure 7.

2.2. The orthogonal Grassmannian. The Grassmannian $\operatorname{Gr}(k,n)$ is the space of kdimensional linear subspaces of \mathbb{R}^n . We always view an element $X \in \operatorname{Gr}(k,n)$ as the row span of a real $k \times n$ matrix of rank k, thus we think of $\operatorname{Gr}(k,n)$ as the space of full rank $k \times n$ matrices modulo row operations. Let us denote by $\binom{[n]}{k}$ the set of all k-element subsets of [n]. Given a set $I \in \binom{[n]}{k}$ and a point $X \in \operatorname{Gr}(k,n)$, the corresponding Plücker coordinate $\Delta_I(X)$ is defined to be the determinant of the $k \times k$ submatrix of X with column set I. (Such determinants are also called maximal minors of X.) Plücker coordinates are defined up to a simultaneous rescaling, giving rise to the Plücker embedding of $\operatorname{Gr}(k,n)$ into the $\binom{n}{k} - 1$ -dimensional real projective space.

Postnikov [Pos07] introduced a rather remarkable subset $\operatorname{Gr}_{\geq 0}(k, n) \subset \operatorname{Gr}(k, n)$ called the totally nonnegative Grassmannian:

$$\operatorname{Gr}_{\geq 0}(k,n) := \left\{ X \in \operatorname{Gr}(k,n) \mid \Delta_I(X) \ge 0 \text{ for all } I \in \binom{[n]}{k} \right\}$$

Definition 2.1. The orthogonal Grassmannian $OG(n, 2n) \subset Gr(n, 2n)$ is defined by

$$OG(n,2n) := \left\{ X \in Gr(n,2n) \mid \Delta_I(X) = \Delta_{[2n] \setminus I}(X) \text{ for all } I \in \binom{[2n]}{n} \right\}.$$

Its totally nonnegative part $OG_{\geq 0}(n, 2n) \subset Gr_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$ is the intersection

$$\mathrm{OG}_{\geq 0}(n,2n) := \mathrm{OG}(n,2n) \cap \mathrm{Gr}_{\geq 0}(n,2n).$$

The space $OG_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$ has been first considered in [HW13] in the context of the scattering amplitudes of ABJM theory. Postnikov defined a stratification of $Gr_{\geq 0}(k, n)$ into *positroid cells*, which induces a stratification of $OG_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$. As it was observed in [HW13, HWX14], the strata of $OG_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$ are also naturally labeled by matchings on [2n]. We prove this in Section 5.

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & m_{12} & m_{13} & m_{14} \\ m_{12} & 1 & m_{23} & m_{24} \\ m_{13} & m_{23} & 1 & m_{34} \\ m_{14} & m_{24} & m_{34} & 1 \end{pmatrix} \quad \mapsto \quad \widetilde{M} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & m_{12} & -m_{12} & -m_{13} & m_{13} & m_{14} & -m_{14} \\ -m_{12} & m_{12} & 1 & 1 & m_{23} & -m_{23} & -m_{24} & m_{24} \\ m_{13} & -m_{13} & -m_{23} & m_{23} & 1 & 1 & m_{34} & -m_{34} \\ -m_{14} & m_{14} & m_{24} & -m_{24} & -m_{34} & m_{34} & 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

FIGURE 1. An example of the map $M \mapsto \widetilde{M}$ for n = 4.

2.3. An embedding. Given a matrix $M = (m_{i,j}) \in \operatorname{Mat}_n^{\operatorname{sym}}(\mathbb{R}, 1)$, one can construct an element $\phi(M) \in \operatorname{OG}(n, 2n)$ using the following rules. We will describe an $n \times 2n$ matrix $\widetilde{M} = (\widetilde{m}_{i,j})$, so that for all $i, j \in [n]$, each of $\widetilde{m}_{i,2j-1}$ and $\widetilde{m}_{i,2j}$ is equal to either $m_{i,j}$ or $-m_{i,j}$, as in Figure 1. Explicitly, for i = j we put $\widetilde{m}_{i,2i-1} = \widetilde{m}_{i,2i} = m_{i,i} = 1$, and for $i \neq j$ we set

(2.4)
$$\widetilde{m}_{i,2j-1} = -\widetilde{m}_{i,2j} = (-1)^{i+j+1} (i$$

where $\mathbb{1}(i < j)$ denotes 1 if i < j and 0 otherwise.

Remark 2.2. For each $i \in [n]$, the sum of columns 2i - 1 and 2i of \widetilde{M} is equal to $2e_i$, where e_i is the *i*-th standard basis vector in \mathbb{R}^n . Thus the matrix \widetilde{M} has full rank, and we denote by $\phi(M) \in \operatorname{Gr}(n, 2n)$ its row span.

One can check that in fact $\phi(M)$ belongs to OG(n, 2n), see Corollary 5.6. We have thus constructed a map $\phi : \operatorname{Mat}_{n}^{\operatorname{sym}}(\mathbb{R}, 1) \to OG(n, 2n)$. Since boundary correlation matrices of planar Ising networks belong to the space $\operatorname{Mat}_{n}^{\operatorname{sym}}(\mathbb{R}, 1)$, ϕ restricts to a map $\phi : \overline{\mathcal{X}}_{n} \to OG(n, 2n)$. We are ready to state our main result.

Theorem 2.3. The restriction $\phi : \overline{\mathcal{X}}_n \to OG(n, 2n)$ is a stratification-preserving homeomorphism between $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_n$ and $OG_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$. Moreover, both spaces are homeomorphic to an $\binom{n}{2}$ -dimensional closed ball.

We prove the second part of Theorem 2.3 in Section 7, where we also deduce its first part from Theorems 5.17 and 6.5.

Remark 2.4. The second sentence of Theorem 2.3 is an application of the machinery developed in [GKL17]. The fact that the image $\phi(\overline{\mathcal{X}}_n)$ is a subset of $\operatorname{Gr}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$ can be deduced in a straightforward fashion from the work of Lis [Lis17], see Section 6.2.

Example 2.5. We illustrate Theorem 2.3 in the case n = 2. Let $\sigma_{12} := \langle \sigma_1 \sigma_2 \rangle$, then the boundary correlation matrix M has the form

(2.5)
$$M = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \sigma_{12} \\ \sigma_{12} & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

By definition, $\sigma_{12} \leq 1$, and we also have $\sigma_{12} \geq 0$ by one of the *Griffiths' inequalities* [Gri67, Theorem 1]. In fact, if G has a single edge connecting the vertices b_1 and b_2 then it is easy to check that depending on $J_{\{b_1,b_2\}}$, σ_{12} can be any number strictly between 0 and 1. If we remove the edge $\{b_1, b_2\}$ from G, we get $\sigma_{12} = 0$. Thus \mathcal{X}_n consists of all matrices M of the form (2.5) for $0 \leq \sigma_{12} < 1$. If we contract the edge $\{b_1, b_2\}$, we get $\sigma_{12} = 1$. The resulting graph will no longer be embedded in a disk, because the boundary vertices b_1 and b_2 will get identified. This is an example of a generalized planar Ising network that we introduce in Section 6. We see that the closure $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_n$ of \mathcal{X}_n consists of all matrices M of the form (2.5) for $0 \leq \sigma_{12} \leq 1$, and is stratified into three cells $\{\sigma_{12} = 0\}$, $\{0 < \sigma_{12} < 1\}$, and $\{\sigma_{12} = 1\}$. These

three cells correspond to three possible matchings on $\{1, 2, 3, 4\}$, namely, $\{\{1, 2\}, \{3, 4\}\}$, $\{\{1, 3\}, \{2, 4\}\}$, and $\{\{1, 4\}, \{2, 3\}\}$, respectively.

We have

(2.6)
$$\widetilde{M} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & \sigma_{12} & -\sigma_{12} \\ -\sigma_{12} & \sigma_{12} & 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix},$$

and $\phi(M) \in \operatorname{Gr}(n, 2n)$ is the row span of \widetilde{M} . The maximal minors of \widetilde{M} are

$$\Delta_{12}(\widetilde{M}) = \Delta_{34}(\widetilde{M}) = 2\sigma_{12}, \quad \Delta_{14}(\widetilde{M}) = \Delta_{23}(\widetilde{M}) = 1 - \sigma_{12}^2,$$
$$\Delta_{13}(\widetilde{M}) = \Delta_{24}(\widetilde{M}) = 1 + \sigma_{12}^2.$$

It follows that $\phi(M)$ belongs to OG(n, 2n) for all $\sigma_{12} \in \mathbb{R}$, and moreover, we get $\phi(M) \in OG_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$ precisely when $0 \leq \sigma_{12} \leq 1$. Note that \widetilde{M} is a matrix but $\phi(M)$ is an element of the Grassmannian, and thus the Plucker coordinates of $\phi(M)$ are only defined up to rescaling. Nevertheless, we can recover σ_{12} from these minors as follows:

(2.7)
$$\sigma_{12} = \frac{\Delta_{12}(\phi(M))}{\Delta_{13}(\phi(M)) + \Delta_{14}(\phi(M))}$$

Thus we see that for n = 2, the map ϕ is indeed a homeomorphism, and both spaces $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_n$ and $OG_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$ are homeomorphic to [0, 1], which is an $\binom{n}{2} = 1$ -dimensional closed ball.

3. Consequences of the main construction

In this section, we give further results on the relationship between the Ising model and the orthogonal Grassmannian.

3.1. Reconstructing correlations from minors. Our first goal is, given an element $X \in OG_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$, to find explicitly a matrix $M = (m_{i,j}) \in Mat_n^{sym}(\mathbb{R}, 1)$ such that X is the row span of \widetilde{M} . For the case n = 2, this was done in (2.7). In order to deal with the general case, we give the following important definition.

Definition 3.1. Given a subset $S \subset [n]$, we denote by $\mathcal{E}_n(S) \subset {\binom{[2n]}{n}}$ the collection of *n*-element subsets I of [2n] such that for each $i \in [n]$, the intersection $I \cap \{2i - 1, 2i\}$ has even size if and only if $i \in S$.

The following result, proved in Section 6, is a simple consequence of Remark 2.2.

Lemma 3.2. Let $M = (m_{i,j}) \in \operatorname{Mat}_n^{\operatorname{sym}}(\mathbb{R}, 1)$ be a matrix. Then for each $i, j \in [n]$, we have

(3.1)
$$m_{i,j} = \frac{\sum_{I \in \mathcal{E}_n(\{i,j\})} \Delta_I(\phi(M))}{\sum_{I \in \mathcal{E}_n(\emptyset)} \Delta_I(\phi(M))} = 2^{-n} \sum_{I \in \mathcal{E}_n(\{i,j\})} \Delta_I(\widetilde{M})$$

We stress again that unlike \widetilde{M} , the maximal minors of $\phi(M)$ are defined up to a common scalar, so it only makes sense to talk about their ratios. However, for the specific matrix \widetilde{M} , we have

(3.2)
$$\sum_{I \in \mathcal{E}_n(\emptyset)} \Delta_I(\widetilde{M}) = 2^n,$$

by the multilinearity of the determinant, see Remark 2.2. Thus (3.2) explains why the two expressions for $m_{i,j}$ given in (3.1) are actually equal.

For example, for n = 2, (3.2) becomes

$$\Delta_{13}(\widetilde{M}) + \Delta_{14}(\widetilde{M}) + \Delta_{23}(\widetilde{M}) + \Delta_{24}(\widetilde{M}) = 4,$$

and for i = 1 and j = 2, Lemma 3.2 gives another expression for σ_{12} :

$$\sigma_{12} = \frac{\Delta_{12}(\phi(M)) + \Delta_{34}(\phi(M))}{\Delta_{13}(\phi(M)) + \Delta_{14}(\phi(M)) + \Delta_{23}(\phi(M)) + \Delta_{24}(\phi(M))},$$

which is easily seen to be equivalent to (2.7).

3.2. Cyclic symmetry and Kramers–Wannier's duality. A nice application of Theorem 2.3 is a cyclic symmetry of the space $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_n$, which comes from the cyclic symmetry of $OG_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$. It turns out that the cyclic shift operation on $OG_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$ corresponds to a generalization of the Kramers-Wannier duality [KW41] that switches between the *high and low temperature expansions* for the Ising model.

Let $k \leq N$, and consider a linear operator $S : \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}^N$ mapping a row vector $v = (v_1, \ldots, v_N) \in \mathbb{R}^N$ to $v \cdot S = (v_2, v_3, \ldots, v_N, (-1)^{k-1}v_1)$. As a matrix, S is given by $S_{i+1,i} = 1$ for $i \in [N-1]$, and $S_{1,N} = (-1)^{k-1}$. A simple observation is that multiplying a $k \times N$ matrix A with nonnegative maximal minors by S on the right yields another $k \times N$ matrix with nonnegative maximal minors. Since multiplication on the right commutes with the left $\operatorname{GL}_k(\mathbb{R})$ -action, we get a cyclic shift operator on $\operatorname{Gr}_{\geq 0}(k, N)$ mapping $X \in \operatorname{Gr}_{\geq 0}(k, N)$ to $X \cdot S \in \operatorname{Gr}_{\geq 0}(k, N)$. It is clear from the definitions that for $\operatorname{Gr}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$, this action restricts to a cyclic shift action on $\operatorname{OG}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$. For example, if $X \in \operatorname{OG}_{\geq 0}(2, 4)$ is the row span of the matrix \widetilde{M} given in (2.6) then $X \cdot S$ is represented by

(3.3)
$$\widetilde{M} \cdot S = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \sigma_{12} & -\sigma_{12} & -1 \\ \sigma_{12} & 1 & 1 & \sigma_{12} \end{pmatrix}.$$

One can check that the row span $X \cdot S$ of this matrix again belongs to $OG_{\geq 0}(2, 4)$. By Theorem 2.3, there must exist a matrix $M' = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \sigma'_{12} \\ \sigma'_{12} & 1 \end{pmatrix}$ such that $\phi(M') = X \cdot S$ in $OG_{\geq 0}(2, 4)$ (i.e., such that $\widetilde{M'}$ is obtained from the matrix in (3.3) by row operations). The value of σ'_{12} can be found from the minors of $X \cdot S$ using (2.7):

$$\sigma_{12}' = \frac{\Delta_{12}(X \cdot S)}{\Delta_{13}(X \cdot S) + \Delta_{14}(X \cdot S)} = \frac{1 - \sigma_{12}^2}{1 + \sigma_{12}^2 + 2\sigma_{12}} = \frac{1 - \sigma_{12}}{1 + \sigma_{12}}.$$

Thus the cyclic shift operation on $OG_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$ yields an automorphism of $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_n$ which has order 2n for n > 2 and order n for n = 1, 2. For n = 2, it sends σ_{12} to $\frac{1-\sigma_{12}}{1+\sigma_{12}}$.

Let us now formulate a generalization of the duality of [KW41].

Definition 3.3. Let N = (G, J) be a connected¹ planar Ising network. The *dual planar* Ising network $N^* := (G^*, J^*)$ is defined as follows. The graph $G^* = (V^*, E^*)$ is the planar dual graph of G, with boundary vertices b_1^*, \ldots, b_n^* placed counterclockwise on the boundary of the disk so that b_i^* is between b_i and b_{i+1} . For $e \in E$, we denote by e^* the edge of G^* that crosses $e \in E$, and thus we have $E^* = \{e^* \mid e \in E\}$. The edge parameters $J_{e^*}^* \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ are defined uniquely by the condition that

(3.4)
$$\sinh(2J_{e^*}^*) = \frac{1}{\sinh(2J_e)}$$

¹This definition can be easily extended to all (not necessarily connected) generalized planar Ising networks.

for all $e \in E$.

For example, if G is the graph in Figure 4 (left) then its dual G^* is shown in Figure 4 (middle). Note that we have $\sinh(2t) = 1/\sinh(2t)$ if and only if $t = \frac{1}{2}\log(\sqrt{2}+1)$ is the *critical temperature* of the Ising model. We also remark that applying the duality twice yields the same planar Ising network except that its boundary vertex labels are cyclically shifted: $(b_i^*)^* = b_{i+1}$. We prove the following result in Section 7.

Theorem 3.4. Let N = (G, J) be a connected planar Ising network with dual planar Ising network $N^* := (G^*, J^*)$. Then the correlation matrices M := M(G, J) and $M^* := M(G^*, J^*)$ are related by the cyclic shift on $OG_{>0}(n, 2n)$:

$$\phi(M) \cdot S = \phi(M^*).$$

According to [GKL17, Theorem 1.1], the space $\operatorname{Gr}_{\geq 0}(k, N)$ is homeomorphic to a closed ball. The main ingredient of the proof of this result is the cyclic symmetry of $\operatorname{Gr}_{\geq 0}(k, N)$. In Section 7, we use the above cyclic symmetry of $\operatorname{OG}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$ in a similar way to show that it is a closed ball, which by the first part of Theorem 2.3 implies that the space $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_n$ of boundary correlation matrices is homeomorphic to a closed ball as well.

The following fact can be found in [GKL17, Lemma 3.1] or [Kar18, Eq. (1.4)], where it is stated more generally for all $\operatorname{Gr}_{\geq 0}(k, N)$.

Proposition 3.5. There exists a unique point $X_0 \in \operatorname{Gr}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$ that is cyclically symmetric, *i.e.*, satisfies $X_0 \cdot S = X_0$. Its Plücker coordinates $\Delta_I(X_0)$ for $I \in \binom{[2n]}{n}$ are given by

(3.5)
$$\Delta_I(X_0) = \prod_{i,j \in I: i < j} \sin\left(\frac{(j-i)\pi}{2n}\right)$$

It will follow from our proof of Theorem 2.3 that this point X_0 actually belongs to $OG_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$, and thus corresponds to some special planar Ising network with n boundary vertices. For instance, for n = 2 this is the Ising network N with one edge e such that $J_e = \frac{1}{2} \log(\sqrt{2} + 1)$. This planar Ising network is *self-dual*, i.e., satisfies $N = N^*$. However, it is easy to see that for n = 3 there are no self-dual planar Ising networks. Nevertheless, as our next result shows, for each n, there exists a (usually not unique) planar Ising network N = (G, J) with n boundary vertices such that the boundary correlation matrices of N and N^* coincide: $M(G, J) = M(G^*, J^*)$.

Proposition 3.6. For each $n \ge 1$, there exists a unique boundary correlation matrix $M_0 \in \overline{\mathcal{X}}$ of some planar Ising network such that the element $\phi(M_0) \in \text{OG}_{\ge 0}(n, 2n)$ is cyclically symmetric, i.e., satisfies $\phi(M_0) \cdot S = \phi(M_0)$. For any planar Ising network N = (G, J) satisfying M(G, J) = M, we have $M(G, J) = M(G^*, J^*)$.

See Section 7 for the proof.

Remark 3.7. Consider a planar Ising network N = (G, J) such that G is the intersection of the square lattice of small side length δ with a disk, and let $J_e = \frac{1}{2} \log(\sqrt{2} + 1)$ be critical for all $e \in E$. The dual network $N^* = (G^*, J^*)$ is "very close" to N in the sense that it is obtained by shifting N by $(\delta/2, \delta/2)$ and making some adjustments near the boundary of the disk. Thus one could argue that the boundary correlations of N are "very close" to being cyclically symmetric, in which case we can find them explicitly from (3.2) and (3.5). It seems plausible to us that this approach may be applied to studying the universality of



FIGURE 2. Transforming a graph G (left) with one edge e connecting two boundary vertices b_1 and b_2 into a bipartite graph G^{\Box} (middle) with eight edges. Four of those edges are incident to the boundary and have weight 1, and the rest have weights s_e , c_e , s_e , c_e , as shown in the figure. The corresponding medial graph G^{\times} from Section 3.5 is shown on the right.

the scaling limit as $\delta \to 0$. The notion of being "very close" is asymptotic and thus is left beyond the scope of this paper.

3.3. Reduction to the dimer model. Lemma 3.2 shows that each two-point correlation function is a ratio of two sums of minors of an element of $OG_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$. In the next section, we apply a well known result that each minor of an element of $Gr_{\geq 0}(k, N)$ is equal to a weighted sum of matchings in a certain planar bipartite graph.

Suppose that we are given a planar Ising network N = (G, J). We introduce two functions $s, c: E \to (0, 1)$ satisfying $s_e^2 + c_e^2 = 1$ for each $e \in E$, as follows. Given $e \in E$, we set (3.6)

$$s_e := \operatorname{sech}(2J_e) = \frac{2}{\exp(2J_e) + \exp(-2J_e)}; \quad c_e := \tanh(2J_e) = \frac{\exp(2J_e) - \exp(-2J_e)}{\exp(2J_e) + \exp(-2J_e)}$$

Next, we transform G into a weighted planar bipartite graph (a *plabic graph* in the sense of [Pos07]) G^{\Box} embedded in a disk, as in Figures 2 and 4: we replace each edge $e \in E$ of G by a bipartite square as in Figure 2 (middle), and connect two such squares if the corresponding edges of G share both a vertex and a face of G. Additionally, we connect each of the 2nboundary vertices of G^{\Box} , which we label d_1, \ldots, d_{2n} in counterclockwise order, to a unique vertex of G^{\Box} in the interior of the disk in an obvious way (as in Figure 4). Thus d_i is a white (resp., black) vertex if i is odd (resp., even). See Definitions 5.12 and 6.2 for a precise description of the rules for constructing G^{\Box} from G. We call G^{\Box} the plabic graph associated with G.

Let us now describe the *boundary measurement map* of [Pos07, Tal08], as explained in [Lam16].

Definition 3.8. An almost perfect matching of G^{\Box} is a collection \mathcal{A} of edges of G^{\Box} such that every vertex of G^{\Box} is incident to at most one edge in \mathcal{A} , and every non-boundary vertex of G^{\Box} is incident to exactly one edge in \mathcal{A} . The boundary of \mathcal{A} is a subset $\partial(\mathcal{A}) \subset [2n]$ which consists of all odd indices *i* such that d_i is not incident to an edge of \mathcal{A} together with all even indices *i* such that d_i is incident to an edge of \mathcal{A} . We define the weight wt(\mathcal{A}) of \mathcal{A} to be the product of weights of all edges in \mathcal{A} .

It is not hard to see that $\partial(\mathcal{A})$ has size *n* for any almost perfect matching \mathcal{A} of G^{\Box} . We are prepared to give a formula for the boundary correlation functions which is very similar to Kenyon and Wilson's grove measurement formula [KW11]. See Section 7 for the proof.



FIGURE 3. Some almost perfect matchings of G^{\Box} , together with their boundaries and weights.

Theorem 3.9. Let N = (G, J) be a planar Ising network and M = M(G, J) be its boundary correlation matrix. Consider the element $\phi(M) \in \text{OG}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$, and let G^{\Box} be the weighted planar bipartite graph described above. Then up to a common rescaling, for every $I \in {\binom{[2n]}{n}}$ we have

(3.7)
$$\Delta_I(\phi(M)) = \sum_{\mathcal{A}:\partial(\mathcal{A})=I} \operatorname{wt}(\mathcal{A}),$$

where the sum is over almost perfect matchings \mathcal{A} of G^{\Box} with boundary I.

For example, consider the graph G^{\Box} in Figure 2 (middle). There is a single almost perfect matching of G^{\Box} with boundary $\{1, 2\}$, shown in Figure 3 (left). Similarly, there are two almost perfect matchings of G^{\Box} with boundary $\{1, 3\}$ and one almost perfect matching with boundary $\{1, 4\}$, also shown in Figure 3. Therefore by Theorem 3.9 we get

$$\Delta_{12}(\phi(M)) = c_e, \quad \Delta_{13}(\phi(M)) = c_e^2 + s_e^2 = 1, \quad \Delta_{14}(\phi(M)) = s_e,$$

up to a common rescaling. By (2.7), we should have

(3.8)
$$\sigma_{12} = \frac{\Delta_{12}(\phi(M))}{\Delta_{13}(\phi(M)) + \Delta_{14}(\phi(M))} = \frac{c_e}{1 + s_e},$$

where $s_e = \operatorname{sech}(2J_e)$ and $c_e = \tanh(2J_e)$ are expressed in terms of J_e as in (3.6). Simplifying the expressions, we get

(3.9)
$$\sigma_{12} = \frac{\exp(J_e) - \exp(-J_e)}{\exp(J_e) + \exp(-J_e)}.$$

On the other hand, by the definition of the Ising model, the partition function is equal to $Z = 2(\exp(J_e) + \exp(-J_e))$ and thus the correlation $\langle \sigma_1 \sigma_2 \rangle$ is

$$\langle \sigma_1 \sigma_2 \rangle = \frac{2}{Z} \left(\exp(J_e) - \exp(-J_e) \right) = \frac{\exp(J_e) - \exp(-J_e)}{\exp(J_e) + \exp(-J_e)},$$

in agreement with Theorem 3.9.

Lemma 3.2 and Theorem 3.9 together give a new simple way to express boundary correlations in terms of almost perfect matchings which we summarize in the following corollary.

Corollary 3.10. Let N = (G, J) be a planar Ising network. Then for all $i, j \in [n]$, the corresponding boundary correlation function is given by

(3.10)
$$\langle \sigma_i \sigma_j \rangle = \frac{\sum_{\mathcal{A}:\partial(\mathcal{A})\in\mathcal{E}_n(\{i,j\})} \operatorname{wt}(\mathcal{A})}{\sum_{\mathcal{A}:\partial(\mathcal{A})\in\mathcal{E}_n(\emptyset)} \operatorname{wt}(\mathcal{A})},$$



FIGURE 4. A planar graph G embedded in a disk (left), its dual G^* (middle), and the corresponding plabic graph G^{\Box} (right).

where the sums in the numerator and the denominator are over almost perfect matchings \mathcal{A} of G^{\Box} .

Remark 3.11. Corollary 3.10 is related to *Dubédat's bosonization identity* [Dub11]. Let us introduce a planar bipartite graph \widehat{G}^{\Box} which is obtained from G^{\Box} by simply adding an extra edge connecting d_{2i-1} to d_{2i} for all $i \in [n]$. Then there is an elegant formula (see Proposition 6.8) expressing the squared boundary correlation $\langle \sigma_i \sigma_j \rangle^2$ as a ratio of sums of perfect matchings in \widehat{G}^{\Box} . We explain how to relate this formula to (3.10) in Section 6.1. We thank Marcin Lis for bringing the paper [Dub11] to our attention.

3.4. Generalized Griffiths' inequalities. As we have already noted, the fact that we have $J_e > 0$ for all edges e implies that all two-point correlation functions $\langle \sigma_u \sigma_v \rangle$ are nonnegative [Gri67]. Equation (3.1) shows that $\langle \sigma_u \sigma_v \rangle$ is a positive linear combination of the minors of \widetilde{M} , and thus its nonnegativity follows from Theorem 2.3. More generally, for every subset $A \subset [n]$, define

$$\langle \sigma_A \rangle := \langle \prod_{i \in A} \sigma_{b_i} \rangle = \sum_{\sigma \in \{-1,1\}^V} \mathbf{P}(\sigma) \prod_{i \in A} \sigma_{b_i}$$

to be the expectation of the product of the spins in A. The following generalized Griffiths' inequalities were proved in [KS68].

Proposition 3.12 ([KS68]). For every $A \subset [n]$, we have

$$\langle \sigma_A \rangle \ge 0.$$

For every $A, B \subset [n]$, we have

$$\langle \sigma_A \sigma_B \rangle - \langle \sigma_A \rangle \langle \sigma_B \rangle \ge 0.$$

Here $\langle \sigma_A \sigma_B \rangle = \langle \prod_{i \in A \oplus B} \sigma_{b_i} \rangle$, where $A \oplus B = (A \setminus B) \cup (B \setminus A)$ denotes the symmetric difference of A and B.

The goal of our next result is to explain how both inequalities in Proposition 3.12 also arise as positive linear combinations of the minors of the matrix \widetilde{M} , where M = M(G, J) is the boundary correlation matrix.



FIGURE 5. A planar graph G embedded in a disk (left), the corresponding medial graph G^{\times} (middle) and its medial strands (right).

Definition 3.13. For $A \subset [n]$, we define $\widetilde{A} := \{2i - 1 \mid i \in A\} \cup \{2i \mid i \in A\}$, and for $\epsilon \in \{0, 1\}$, we let $\mathcal{D}^{\epsilon}(A) \subset {\binom{[2n]}{n}}$ be the set of all $I \in {\binom{[2n]}{n}}$ such that the sum of elements of $I \cap \widetilde{A}$ is equal to ϵ modulo 2.

Recall also the notation $\mathcal{E}_n(S)$ from Definition 3.1. We prove the following result in Section 8.

Theorem 3.14. For every $A \subset [n]$, we have

(3.11)
$$\langle \sigma_A \rangle = 2^{-n} \sum_{I \in \mathcal{E}_n(A)} \Delta_I(\widetilde{M})$$

For every $A, B \subset [n]$, there exists $\epsilon \in \{0, 1\}$, given explicitly in (8.1), such that

(3.12)
$$\langle \sigma_A \sigma_B \rangle - \langle \sigma_A \rangle \langle \sigma_B \rangle = 2^{-n+1} \sum_{I \in \mathcal{E}_n(A \oplus B) \cap \mathcal{D}^{\epsilon}(B)} \Delta_I(\widetilde{M}).$$

Thus the inequalities of Proposition 3.12 become manifestly true when expressed in terms of minors of \widetilde{M} , which are nonnegative by Theorem 2.3.

For example, when n = 2 and $A = B = \{1, 2\}$, we have $\epsilon = 1$ by (8.1), and thus (3.12) becomes

$$1 - \sigma_{12}^2 = \frac{\Delta_{14}(\widetilde{M}) + \Delta_{23}(\widetilde{M})}{2}$$

3.5. Inverse problem. In this section, we concentrate on answering the following question.

Question 3.15. Given a planar Ising network N = (G, J), is it possible to reconstruct J from the matrix M(G, J)? In other words, is it true that the function $J : E \to \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ is uniquely determined by G and M(G, J)?

Of course, the answer to this question is negative if, for example, G has more than $\binom{n}{2}$ edges. In order to fix this, we introduce *medial graphs*. Namely, given a planar graph G embedded in a disk, the *medial graph* G^{\times} associated with G is a planar graph obtained from G as in Figure 2 (right) and Figure 5 (middle). It has 2n boundary vertices d_1, \ldots, d_{2n} , each of degree 1, and |E| interior vertices, each of degree 4. See Section 6 for a precise description.

Since each interior vertex of G^{\times} has degree 4, we define a *medial strand* in G^{\times} to be a path that starts at a boundary vertex d_i of G^{\times} , follows the only edge of G^{\times} incident to it, and then goes "straight" at each interior vertex of degree 4, until it reaches another boundary vertex d_j of G^{\times} . (More precisely, a medial strand is determined by the condition that whenever two of its edges share a vertex, they do not share a face.) Clearly there are *n* medial strands in G^{\times} , and each of them connects d_i to d_j for some $i, j \in [2n]$, giving rise to a matching τ_G on [2n] called the *medial pairing associated with G*:

 $\tau_G := \left\{ \{i, j\} \subset [2n] \mid \text{a medial strand in } G^{\times} \text{ starts at } d_i \text{ and ends at } d_j \right\}.$

Thus τ_G is a partition of [2n] into n sets, each of size 2. For example, for the graph G in Figure 5 (left), there is a medial strand that starts at vertex d_3 , then follows the midpoints of edges e_2 , e_3 , e_8 , e_7 , and then terminates at vertex d_8 . Thus the medial pairing τ_G of G contains a pair $\{3, 8\}$. Following the other five medial strands, we find

(3.13) $\tau_G = \{\{1,4\},\{2,11\},\{3,8\},\{5,9\},\{6,10\},\{7,12\}\},\$

see Figure 5 (right).

Definition 3.16. For $i < j, i' < j' \in [2n]$, we say that pairs $\{i, j\}$ and $\{i', j'\}$ form a crossing if either i < i' < j < j' or i' < i < j' < j. For a matching τ of [2n], we let $xing(\tau)$ denote the number of pairs in τ that form a crossing.

For example, if τ_G is given in (3.13) then $\operatorname{xing}(\tau_G) = 9$. We are now ready to state an important definition, introduced in [CIM98].

Definition 3.17. We say that G is *reduced* if its number |E| of edges equals $xing(\tau_G)$.

For example, the graph G in Figure 5 (left) is reduced since it has $|E| = 9 = \operatorname{xing}(\tau_G)$ edges.

We will see later in Proposition 6.4 that if we fix G and let J vary, the space of matrices M(G, J) obtained in such a way is an open ball of dimension $\operatorname{xing}(\tau_G)$. Since J varies over $\mathbb{R}^{E}_{>0}$, we see that if G is not reduced (in which case clearly $|E| > \operatorname{xing}(\tau_G)$) then the answer to Question 3.15 is negative. On the other hand, if G is reduced then the answer turns out to be always positive, as we show in Section 7.

Theorem 3.18. Let N = (G, J) be a planar Ising network such that G is reduced. Then the map $J \mapsto M(G, J)$ is injective, i.e., for each matrix $M \in \operatorname{Mat}_{n}^{\operatorname{sym}}(\mathbb{R}, 1)$, there is at most one function $J : E \to \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ such that M = M(G, J).

Theorem 2.3 combined with our results in Section 5 gives a simple explicit way to test whether for a given reduced graph G and a matrix $M \in \operatorname{Mat}_{n}^{\operatorname{sym}}(\mathbb{R}, 1)$ there exists a function $J: E \to \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ such that M = M(G, J).

In order to describe a recursive way of reconstructing J from M(G, J), we introduce operations of *adjoining a boundary spike* and *adjoining a boundary edge* to G. An identical construction in the case of electrical networks has been considered in [CIM98].

Definition 3.19. Let N' = (G', J') be a planar Ising network, where G' = (V', E') has n boundary vertices. Given $k \in [n]$, we say that another planar Ising network N = (G, J) with n boundary vertices is obtained from N' by *adjoining a boundary spike at* k if the vertex b_k in G is incident to a single edge e and contracting this edge in G yields G'. Similarly, we say that N is obtained from N' by *adjoining a boundary edge* between k and k+1 if G contains an edge e connecting b_k and b_{k+1} , and removing this edge from G yields G'. In both cases,

we additionally require that the restriction of $J: E \to \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ to $E' = E \setminus \{e\}$ coincides with $J': E' \to \mathbb{R}_{>0}$.

When adjoining boundary edges, we allow for k = n, in which case we set k + 1 := 1. We denote $t := J_e$, and our first goal will be to reconstruct t from the matrix M(G, J).

Definition 3.20. Let $i \in [2n]$. Consider a total order \prec_i on [2n] given by

 $i \prec_i i+1 \prec_i \cdots \prec_i 2n \prec_i 1 \prec_i \cdots \prec_i i-1,$

where the indices are taken modulo 2n. For a planar Ising network N = (G, J) and $i \in [2n]$, define subsets $I_i^{\min}(G), I_i^{\max}(G) \in {\binom{[2n]}{n}}$ whose disjoint union is [2n] as follows. For each unordered pair $\{a, b\}$ of τ_G , we may assume that $a \prec_i b$, and then we let $a \in I_i^{\min}(G)$ and $b \in I_i^{\max}(G)$. In particular, we always have $i \in I_i^{\min}(G)$ and $i - 1 \in I_i^{\max}(G)$.

For example, recall that if G is the graph from Figure 5 (left) then τ_G is given by (3.13). For i = 7 and i = 12, we have

(3.14)
$$I_7^{\min}(G) = \{7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 1\}, \quad I_7^{\max}(G) = \{6, 5, 4, 3, 2, 12\}, \\ I_{12}^{\min}(G) = \{12, 1, 2, 3, 5, 6\}, \quad I_{12}^{\max}(G) = \{11, 10, 9, 8, 7, 5\}.$$

We prove our next result in Section 7.

Theorem 3.21. Let G be a reduced planar graph embedded in a disk.

• Suppose that N = (G, J) is obtained from N' = (G', J') by adjoining a boundary spike e at $k \in [n]$. Let M := M(G, J), $\tilde{k} := 2k - 1$, and $t := J_e$. Then for $I := I_{\tilde{k}+1}^{\min}(G)$, we have

$$s_e = \operatorname{sech}(2t) = \frac{\Delta_I(\phi(M))}{\Delta_{I \cup \{\tilde{k}\} \setminus \{\tilde{k}+1\}}(\phi(M))}$$

• Suppose that N = (G, J) is obtained from N' = (G', J') by adjoining a boundary edge e between $k \in [n]$ and k + 1. Let M := M(G, J), $\tilde{k} := 2k$, and $t := J_e$. Then for $I := I_{\tilde{k}+1}^{\max}(G)$, we have

$$c_e = \tanh(2t) = \frac{\Delta_I(\phi(M))}{\Delta_{I \cup \{\tilde{k}+1\} \setminus \{\tilde{k}\}}(\phi(M))}$$

For example, the graph G in Figure 5 (left) can be obtained from another reduced graph by adjoining a boundary spike e_4 at k = 6, so we have $\tilde{k} = 11$ in the first part of Theorem 3.21. Since $I = I_{12}^{\min}(G) = \{1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 12\}$ by (3.14), we have

$$s_{e_4} = \frac{\Delta_{\{1,2,3,5,6,12\}}(\phi(M))}{\Delta_{\{1,2,3,5,6,11\}}(\phi(M))}.$$

Similarly, G can be obtained from another reduced graph by adjoining a boundary edge e_9 between k = 3 and k + 1 = 4, so we have $\tilde{k} = 6$ in the second part of Theorem 3.21. Since $I = I_7^{\max}(G) = \{2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 12\}$ by (3.14), we have

$$c_{e_9} = \frac{\Delta_{\{2,3,4,5,6,12\}}(\phi(M))}{\Delta_{\{2,3,4,5,7,12\}}(\phi(M))}.$$

Since both functions sech, $\tanh : (0, \infty) \to (0, 1)$ are strictly monotone, it follows from Theorem 3.21 that we can reconstruct $t = J_e$ uniquely from M(G, J) whenever e is either a boundary spike or a boundary edge of G. This constitutes the first step of our reconstruction algorithm, in view of the following result. **Proposition 3.22.** Suppose that G is a connected reduced planar graph embedded in a disk, having at least one edge. Then G is obtained from another reduced graph G' by adjoining either a boundary spike or a boundary edge.

We note that the graph G' above need not be connected. Also, if G itself is not connected then it is clearly enough to solve the inverse problem for each connected component of Gseparately, and thus we may assume that G is connected. See Lemma 5.18 for a generalization of Proposition 3.22.

Proposition 3.22 says that given a reduced graph G and a matrix M(G, J), we can reconstruct J_e for at least one edge e of G. A natural thing to do now would be to contract e if it is a boundary spike and remove e if it is a boundary edge, obtaining the reduced graph G'. Our next goal is to explain the relationship between the matrices M(G, J) and M(G', J')in the case when N = (G, J) is obtained from N' = (G', J') by adjoining either a boundary spike or a boundary edge.

We note that these two operations look like they have a very different effect on the boundary correlation matrix. For example, adjoining a boundary spike at k only changes the correlation $\langle \sigma_i \sigma_j \rangle$ when either i or j is equal to k, but adjoining a boundary edge between k and k + 1 in general changes all entries of the boundary correlation matrix. Surprisingly, these two operations have exactly the same form when written in terms of the matrix \widetilde{M} , as we now explain. (In fact, it is clear that applying the duality from Section 3.2 switches the roles of boundary spikes and boundary edges.)

Suppose that N = (G, J) is obtained from N' = (G', J') by adjoining a boundary spike e at $k \in [n]$ (resp., a boundary edge e between k and k + 1). Define $\tilde{k} := 2k - 1$ (resp., $\tilde{k} := 2k$), $t := J_e$, $s_e := \operatorname{sech}(2t)$, $c_e := \tanh(2t)$, as in Theorem 3.21, and let $g = g_{\tilde{k}}(t)$ be a $2n \times 2n$ matrix which coincides with the identity matrix except for a 2×2 block of the form $\binom{1/c_e}{s_e/c_e} = 1/c_e$ in rows and columns indexed by \tilde{k} and $\tilde{k} + 1$. In other words, we set $g_{\tilde{k},\tilde{k}} = g_{\tilde{k}+1,\tilde{k}+1} := 1/c_e, g_{\tilde{k},\tilde{k}+1} = g_{\tilde{k}+1,\tilde{k}} := s_e/c_e, g_{i,i} = 1$ for $i \neq \tilde{k}, \tilde{k} + 1$, and the rest of the entries of g are zero. In the case where we have $\tilde{k} = 2n$, i.e., when we are adding a boundary edge between k = n and k + 1 = 1, the relevant entries of g are $g_{2n,2n} = g_{1,1} = 1/c$ and $g_{1,2n} = g_{2n,1} = (-1)^{n-1} s_e/c_e$. This sign twist is related to the cyclic symmetry of $\operatorname{Gr}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$ as we explained in Section 3.2. For example, for n = 2 and $\tilde{k} = 1, 4$, we have

$$g_1(t) = \begin{pmatrix} 1/c_e & s_e/c_e & 0 & 0\\ s_e/c_e & 1/c_e & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad g_4(t) = \begin{pmatrix} 1/c_e & 0 & 0 & -s_e/c_e\\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0\\ -s_e/c_e & 0 & 0 & 1/c_e \end{pmatrix}$$

Recall that given an element $X \in Gr(n, 2n)$ and a $2n \times 2n$ invertible real matrix g, an element $X \cdot g \in Gr(n, 2n)$ is well defined as the row span of $A \cdot g$ where A is any $n \times 2n$ matrix whose row span is X.

Theorem 3.23. Suppose that N = (G, J) is obtained from N' = (G', J') by adjoining a boundary spike e at $k \in [n]$ (resp., a boundary edge e between k and k+1). Let M = M(G, J), M' = M(G', J'), and $g_{\tilde{k}}(t)$ be as above. Then we have

$$\phi(M) = \phi(M') \cdot g_{\tilde{k}}(t).$$

Theorems 3.21 and 3.23 give the following inductive algorithm for reconstructing the function $J: E \to \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ for a given reduced graph G = (V, E) from the matrix M = M(G, J). The problem is trivial when G has no edges. Otherwise by Proposition 3.22, there is either a boundary spike or a boundary edge e in G. The matrix M gives an element $\phi(M) \in OG_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$, from which we compute either s_e or c_e using Theorem 3.21 and thus find $t = J_e$. After that, we contract e in G if it is a boundary spike and remove it if it is a boundary edge, and also modify the matrix M accordingly: we let

$$X' := \phi(M) \cdot (g_{\tilde{k}}(t))^{-1} \in \mathrm{OG}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n),$$

where $(g_{\tilde{k}}(t))^{-1}$ can be found using

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1/c_e & s_e/c_e \\ s_e/c_e & 1/c_e \end{pmatrix}^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} 1/c_e & -s_e/c_e \\ -s_e/c_e & 1/c_e \end{pmatrix}.$$

By Lemma 3.2, we have $X' = \phi(M') \in \mathrm{OG}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$ for a unique matrix $M' \in \mathrm{Mat}_n^{\mathrm{sym}}(\mathbb{R}, 1)$. We then express the entries of M' in terms of the Plücker coordinates of X' using (3.1). It follows that this $n \times n$ matrix M' is equal to M(G', J'), so we set G := G' and proceed recursively until G has no edges left, splitting G' into connected components if necessary. This finishes a constructive proof of Theorem 3.21. Alternatively, we deduce Theorem 3.21 from Theorem 2.3 at the end of Section 7.

Another question similar to Question 3.15 is the following.

Question 3.24. Given an $n \times n$ matrix $M \in Mat_n^{sym}(\mathbb{R}, 1)$, does there exist a planar Ising network N = (G, J) such that M = M(G, J)?

The answer to this question is provided by Theorem 2.3: the answer is "yes" if and only if all minors of the matrix \widetilde{M} are nonnegative. There are exponentially many minors to check, that is, $\binom{2n}{n}$, and in general one needs to check all of them to ensure that \widetilde{M} is totally nonnegative. However, checking whether $\phi(M) \in \mathrm{OG}(n, 2n)$ belongs to $\mathrm{OG}_{>0}(n, 2n) :=$ $\mathrm{OG}(n, 2n) \cap \mathrm{Gr}_{>0}(n, 2n)$ (defined in (4.1)), as opposed to $\mathrm{OG}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$, can be done in polynomial time. More precisely, one needs to check only $n^2 + 1$ minors of \widetilde{M} , as it follows from the results of [Pos07]. These minors are algebraically independent as functions on $\mathrm{Gr}(n, 2n)$, but when restricted to $\mathrm{OG}(n, 2n)$, this is no longer the case. Thus if all of them are positive then it follows that $\phi(M) \in \mathrm{OG}_{>0}(n, 2n)$, but in general one could check less minors and arrive at the same conclusion. See Section 9 for further discussion.

4. Background on the totally nonnegative Grassmannian

In this section, we give a brief background on the totally nonnegative Grassmannian of Postnikov [Pos07]. Most of the results in this section can be found in either [Pos07] or [Lam16].

Recall that the totally nonnegative Grassmannian $\operatorname{Gr}_{\geq 0}(k, N)$ is the subset of the real Grassmannian $\operatorname{Gr}(k, N)$ where all Plücker coordinates are nonnegative. Given a point $X \in \operatorname{Gr}_{\geq 0}(k, N)$, define the *matroid* $\mathcal{M}_X \subset \binom{[N]}{k}$ of X by

$$\mathcal{M}_X := \left\{ J \in \binom{[N]}{k} \mid \Delta_J(X) > 0 \right\}.$$

Given a collection $\mathcal{M} \subset {\binom{[N]}{k}}$, define the *positroid cell* $\Pi_{\mathcal{M}}^{>0} \subset \operatorname{Gr}_{\geq 0}(k, N)$ by $\Pi_{\mathcal{M}}^{>0} := \{X \in \operatorname{Gr}_{\geq 0}(k, N) \mid \mathcal{M}_X = \mathcal{M}\}.$ For example, one can take $\mathcal{M} = {\binom{[N]}{k}}$, in which case the positroid cell $\Pi_{\mathcal{M}}^{>0}$ coincides with the *totally positive Grassmannian* $\operatorname{Gr}_{>0}(k, n)$:

(4.1)
$$\operatorname{Gr}_{>0}(k,N) := \left\{ X \in \operatorname{Gr}(k,N) \mid \Delta_I(X) > 0 \text{ for all } I \in \binom{[N]}{k} \right\}.$$

A collection $\mathcal{M} \subset {\binom{[N]}{k}}$ is called a *positroid* if $\Pi_{\mathcal{M}}^{>0}$ is nonempty. Positroids are special kinds of matroids, and have a very nice structure which we now explain.

Recall that for $i \in [N]$, the total order \prec_i on [N] is given by $i \prec_i i + 1 \prec_i \cdots \prec_i N \prec_i 1 \prec_i \cdots \prec_i i - 1$.

Definition 4.1. For two sets $I, J \in \binom{[N]}{k}$, we write $I \prec_i J$ if $I = \{i_1 \prec_i \cdots \prec_i i_k\}$, $J = \{j_1 \prec_i \cdots \prec_i j_k\}$, and $i_s \prec_i j_s$ for $1 \leq s \leq k$. It turns out that if \mathcal{M} is a positroid then for each i it has a unique \prec_i -minimal element which we denote $I_i^{\min}(\mathcal{M})$. Thus $I_i^{\min}(\mathcal{M})$ satisfies $I_i^{\min}(\mathcal{M}) \prec_i J$ for all $J \in \mathcal{M}$. Similarly, we let $I_i^{\max}(\mathcal{M})$ be the unique \prec_i -maximal element of \mathcal{M} .

Definition 4.2. A sequence $\mathcal{I} := (I_1, \ldots, I_N)$ of k-element subsets of [N] is called a *Grassmann necklace* if for each $i \in [N]$ there exists $j_i \in [N]$ such that $I_{i+1} = I_i \setminus \{i\} \cup \{j_i\}$.

Here (and everywhere in this section) the index i + 1 is taken modulo N.

There is a simple bijection between positroids and Grassmann necklaces, which sends a positroid \mathcal{M} to the sequence $\mathcal{I}(\mathcal{M}) := (I_1^{\min}(\mathcal{M}), I_2^{\min}(\mathcal{M}), \dots, I_N^{\min}(\mathcal{M}))$, which is a Grassmann necklace for each positroid \mathcal{M} . Each Grassmann necklace \mathcal{I} is encoded by an associated decorated permutation $\pi_{\mathcal{I}} : [N] \to [N]$ which sends $i \in [N]$ to the index j_i from Definition 4.2. (When i is a fixed point of $\pi_{\mathcal{I}}$, i.e., $\pi_{\mathcal{I}}(i) = i$, there is an extra bit of data in $\pi_{\mathcal{I}}$ recording whether $i \in I_i$ or $i \notin I_i$, but this will not be important for our exposition.) The map $\mathcal{I} \mapsto \pi_{\mathcal{I}}$ is a bijection between Grassmann necklaces and decorated permutations.

Remark 4.3. Under the above correspondence, a positroid \mathcal{M} gives rise to a decorated permutation $\pi_{\mathcal{M}}$ such that for $i \in [N]$, $\pi_{\mathcal{M}}(i)$ is equal to the unique element of the set $I_{i+1}^{\min}(\mathcal{M}) \setminus I_i^{\min}(\mathcal{M})$, if it is nonempty, and is equal to i otherwise. It is not hard to see that $\pi_{\mathcal{M}}^{-1}(i)$ is the unique element of the set $I_i^{\max}(\mathcal{M}) \setminus I_{i+1}^{\max}(\mathcal{M})$.

See [Pos07, Section 16] for a detailed description of these objects and bijections between them.

A plabic graph is a planar bipartite graph $G^{\Box} = (V^{\Box}, E^{\Box})$ embedded in a disk such that it has N boundary vertices d_1, \ldots, d_N , each of degree 1. (Postnikov considers more general plabic graphs where vertices of the same color are allowed to be connected by an edge, but for our purposes it is sufficient to work with bipartite graphs.) Recall that the notion of an almost perfect matching is given in Definition 3.8. Given an almost perfect matching \mathcal{A} of G, we define its boundary $\partial(\mathcal{A}) \subset [N]$ to be the set

 $\partial(\mathcal{A}) = \{i \in [N] \mid d_i \text{ is black and is not incident to an edge of } \mathcal{A}\} \cup \{i \in [N] \mid d_i \text{ is white and is incident to an edge of } \mathcal{A}\}.$

It turns out that for every G^{\Box} there exists an integer $0 \le k \le N$ such that every almost perfect matching \mathcal{A} of G^{\Box} satisfies $|\partial(\mathcal{A})| = k$. The number k is given explicitly in terms of the number of black and white vertices of G^{\Box} , see [Lam16, Eq. (9)].

Definition 4.4. Each plabic graph G^{\Box} gives rise to a decorated permutation $\pi_{G^{\Box}}$, as follows. A *strand* in G^{\Box} is a path that turns maximally right (resp., maximally left) at each black (resp., white) vertex. If a strand that starts at b_i ends at b_j for some $i, j \in [N]$ then we put $\pi_{G^{\square}}(i) := j$, which defines a decorated permutation $\pi_{G^{\square}} : [n] \to [n]$. (For each *i* such that $\pi_{G^{\square}}(i) = i, \pi_{G^{\square}}$ also contains the information whether *i* was black or white in G^{\square} .)

Since decorated permutations are in bijection with Grassmann necklaces and positroids, each plabic graph G^{\Box} gives rise to a Grassmann necklace $\mathcal{I}_{G^{\Box}}$ and a positroid $\mathcal{M}_{G^{\Box}}$.

A weighted plabic graph is a pair (G^{\Box}, wt) where G^{\Box} is a plabic graph and $\mathrm{wt} : E^{\Box} \to \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ is a weight function assigning positive real numbers to the edges of G^{\Box} . For an almost perfect matching \mathcal{A} of G^{\Box} , recall that $\mathrm{wt}(\mathcal{A})$ is the product of weights of edges of \mathcal{A} . We can consider a collection $\mathrm{Meas}(G^{\Box}, \mathrm{wt}) := (\Delta_I(G^{\Box}, \mathrm{wt}))_{I \in \binom{[N]}{k}} \in \mathbb{RP}^{\binom{N}{k}-1}$ of polynomials given for $I \in \binom{[N]}{k}$ by

(4.2)
$$\Delta_I(G^{\Box}, \mathrm{wt}) := \sum_{\mathcal{A}: \partial(\mathcal{A}) = I} \mathrm{wt}(\mathcal{A}),$$

where the sum is over all almost perfect matchings \mathcal{A} of G^{\Box} with boundary I. It turns out that $(\Delta_I(G^{\Box}, \mathrm{wt}))_{I \in \binom{[N]}{k}}$ is the collection of Plücker coordinates of some point $X \in \mathrm{Gr}_{\geq 0}(k, N)$. The following result is implicit in [PSW09].

Theorem 4.5 ([Lam16, Corollary 7.14]). Given a weighted plabic graph (G^{\Box}, wt) , there exists a unique point $X \in Gr(k, N)$ such that

$$\operatorname{Meas}(G^{\sqcup}, \operatorname{wt}) = (\Delta_I(X))_{I \in \binom{[N]}{k}}$$

as elements of the projective space $\mathbb{RP}^{\binom{N}{k}-1}$. The point X belongs to $\operatorname{Gr}_{\geq 0}(k, N)$ and in fact to the positroid cell $\Pi^{>0}_{\mathcal{M}_{G^{\square}}}$, where $\mathcal{M}_{G^{\square}}$ is the positroid whose decorated permutation is $\pi_{G^{\square}}$. Every point $X \in \Pi^{>0}_{\mathcal{M}_{G^{\square}}}$ arises in this way from some weight function $\operatorname{wt} : E^{\square} \to \mathbb{R}_{>0}$.

The map $\operatorname{Meas}(G^{\Box}, \cdot) : \mathbb{R}_{>0}^{E^{\Box}} \to \operatorname{Gr}_{\geq 0}(k, N)$ sending $\operatorname{wt} \mapsto X$ is not usually injective. To see this, observe that each interior vertex of G^{\Box} is incident to precisely one edge of each almost perfect matching \mathcal{A} . Thus rescaling the weights of all edges incident to a single interior vertex (i.e. applying a *gauge transformation*) does not change the value of Meas. We denote by $\mathbb{R}_{>0}^{E^{\Box}}/\operatorname{Gauge}$ the space of gauge-equivalence classes of functions $\operatorname{wt} : E^{\Box} \to \mathbb{R}_{>0}$, so that wt and wt' are the same in $\mathbb{R}_{>0}^{E^{\Box}}/\operatorname{Gauge}$ if and only if wt' can be obtained from wt by a sequence of gauge transformations. It is not hard to see that $\mathbb{R}_{>0}^{E^{\Box}}/\operatorname{Gauge}$ is homeomorphic to an open ball of dimension $F(G^{\Box}) - 1$, where $F(G^{\Box})$ denotes the number of faces of G^{\Box} .

Thus by Theorem 4.5, Meas gives rise to a map

$$\overline{\mathrm{Meas}}: \mathbb{R}^{E^{\sqcup}}_{>0} / \operatorname{Gauge} \to \Pi^{>0}_{\mathcal{M}_{G^{\square}}} \subset \mathrm{Gr}_{\geq 0}(k, N)$$

which turns out to be injective for some plabic graphs G^{\Box} . More precisely, let us say that G^{\Box} is *reduced* if all of the following conditions are satisfied:

- no strand in G^{\Box} intersects itself;
- there are no closed strands in G^{\Box} ;
- no two strands in G^{\Box} have a bad double crossing.

Here two strands are said to form a *bad double crossing* if there are two vertices $u, v \in V^{\Box}$ such that both strands first pass through u and then through v. The following result can be found in [Pos07, Lam16].

Theorem 4.6. For each positroid \mathcal{M} , there exists a reduced plabic graph G^{\Box} such that $\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{M}_{G^{\Box}}$. Given a reduced plabic graph G^{\Box} , the map $\overline{\text{Meas}} : \mathbb{R}_{>0}^{E^{\Box}}/\text{Gauge} \to \Pi_{\mathcal{M}_{G^{\Box}}}^{>0}$ is a homeomorphism. Thus the positroid cell $\Pi_{\mathcal{M}_{G^{\Box}}}^{>0}$ is homeomorphic to $\mathbb{R}^{F(G^{\Box})-1}$. In addition, we have

(4.3)
$$\operatorname{Gr}_{\geq 0}(k,N) = \bigsqcup_{\mathcal{M}} \Pi_{\mathcal{M}}^{>0},$$

where the union is over all positroids $\mathcal{M} \subset {[N] \choose k}$.

The last ingredient from the theory of plabic graphs that we will need is BCFW bridges, introduced in [AHBC⁺16, BCFW05]. Our exposition will follow [Lam16, Section 7].

Recall that each boundary vertex of a plabic graph is incident to a unique edge.

Definition 4.7. Given $i \in [N]$, we say that a plabic graph G^{\Box} has a *removable bridge between* i and i+1 if there exists a path of length 3 between d_i and d_{i+1} in G^{\Box} . (In particular, these vertices have to be of different color).

Here we again allow i = N and i+1 = 1. We refer to the middle edge of this path of length 3 as a *bridge between* i and i+1. There are two types of bridges, since i can be incident either to a white or to a black interior vertex. It turns out that the weight of the bridge can always be recovered from the minors of the corresponding element of the Grassmannian. The following result can be found in [Lam16, Proposition 7.10] and [Lam14, Proposition 3.10], and is the main ingredient of the proof of Theorem 3.21.

Theorem 4.8. Let (G^{\Box}, wt) be a weighted reduced plabic graph, and suppose that it has a removable bridge between i and i + 1. Assume that the weights of the edges incident to d_i and d_{i+1} are both equal to 1 (which can always be achieved using gauge transformations). Let $e \in E^{\Box}$ be the bridge between i and i + 1, and denote $X := \overline{\mathrm{Meas}}(G^{\Box}, \mathrm{wt}) \in \mathrm{Gr}_{\geq 0}(k, N)$.

• If i is white then for $I := I_{i+1}^{\min}(\mathcal{M}_{G^{\square}})$, we have

$$\operatorname{wt}(e) = \frac{\Delta_I(X)}{\Delta_{I \cup \{i\} \setminus \{i+1\}}(X)}$$

• If i is black then for $I := I_{i+1}^{\max}(\mathcal{M}_{G^{\square}})$, we have

$$\operatorname{wt}(e) = \frac{\Delta_I(X)}{\Delta_{I \cup \{i+1\} \setminus \{i\}}(X)}.$$

We will also need to explain how removing a bridge changes the corresponding element of the Grassmannian. For $i \in [N-1]$ and $t \in \mathbb{R}$, define $x_i(t) \in \operatorname{Mat}_N(\mathbb{R})$ to be a $N \times N$ matrix with ones on the diagonal and a single nonzero off-diagonal entry in row i and column i + 1equal to t. We also define $x_N(t)$ to be the matrix with ones on the diagonal and the entry in row N, column 1 equal to $(-1)^{k-1}t$. We define $y_i(t)$ to be the matrix transpose of $x_i(t)$ for $i \in [N]$.

Lemma 4.9 ([Lam16, Lemma 7.6]). Let $(G^{\Box}, \operatorname{wt})$ be a weighted plabic graph, and suppose that it has a removable bridge between i and i + 1. Assume that the weights of the edges incident to d_i and d_{i+1} are both equal to 1. Let $e \in E^{\Box}$ be the bridge between i and i + 1 with weight $\operatorname{wt}(e) = t$, and denote $X := \overline{\operatorname{Meas}}(G^{\Box}, \operatorname{wt}) \in \operatorname{Gr}_{\geq 0}(k, N)$. Let $(G^{\Box'}, \operatorname{wt'})$ be obtained from $(G^{\Box}, \operatorname{wt})$ by removing e, and define $X' := \overline{\operatorname{Meas}}(G^{\Box'}, \operatorname{wt})$. Then for all $I \in {[N] \choose k}$ we have the following. • If i is white then $X' = X \cdot x_i(-t)$, and

$$\Delta_I(X') = \begin{cases} \Delta_I(X) - t\Delta_{I \setminus \{i+1\} \cup \{i\}}(X), & \text{if } i+1 \in I \text{ but } i \notin I; \\ \Delta_I(X), & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

$$\Delta_I(X') = \begin{cases} \Delta_I(X) - t\Delta_{I \setminus \{i\} \cup \{i+1\}}(X), & \text{if } i \in I \text{ but } i+1 \notin I; \\ \Delta_I(X), & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

5. The totally nonnegative orthogonal Grassmannian

In this section, we discuss how the stratification of Gr(n, 2n) induces a stratification of the totally nonnegative orthogonal Grassmannian $OG_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$. We remark that some of the statements below have appeared in [HW13, HWX14], but mostly without proofs.

Recall from Definition 2.1 that the orthogonal Grassmannian $OG(n, 2n) \subset Gr(n, 2n)$ is the set of $X \in Gr(n, 2n)$ such that $\Delta_I(X) = \Delta_{[2n]\setminus I}(X)$ for all *n*-element sets $I \subset [2n]$. In the literature, the term "orthogonal Grassmannian" usually refers to the set of subspaces where a certain non-degenerate symmetric bilinear form vanishes. Over the complex numbers, there is only one such bilinear form up to isomorphism, but over the real numbers, one needs to choose a signature. Following [HW13], define a non-degenerate symmetric bilinear form $\eta : \mathbb{R}^{2n} \times \mathbb{R}^{2n} \to \mathbb{R}$ by $\eta(u, v) := u_1v_1 - u_2v_2 + \cdots + u_{2n-1}v_{2n-1} - u_{2n}v_{2n}$. Let us also introduce another subset $OG_{-}(n, 2n) \subset Gr(n, 2n)$ consisting of all $X \in Gr(n, 2n)$ such that $\Delta_I(X) = -\Delta_{[2n]\setminus I}(X)$ for all *n*-element sets $I \subset [2n]$.² We justify our terminology as follows.

Proposition 5.1. For a subspace $X \in Gr(n, 2n)$, the following are equivalent:

- $X \in OG(n, 2n) \sqcup OG_{-}(n, 2n);$
- for any two vectors $u, v \in X \subset \mathbb{R}^{2n}$, we have $\eta(u, v) = 0$.

Proof. Given an $k \times N$ matrix $A = (a_{i,j})$, define another $k \times N$ matrix $\operatorname{alt}(A) := ((-1)^j a_{i,j})$. Taking row spans and setting k := n, N := 2n, we get a map alt : $\operatorname{Gr}(n, 2n) \to \operatorname{Gr}(n, 2n)$. It is a classical result (see e.g. [Hoc75, Section 7] or [Kar17, Lemma 1.11]) that for $X \in \operatorname{Gr}(n, 2n)$ and $I \in \binom{[2n]}{n}$, we have $\Delta_{[2n]\setminus I}(\operatorname{alt}(X^{\perp})) = c\Delta_I(X)$, where \perp denotes the orthogonal complement of $X \subset \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ with respect to the standard scalar product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ on \mathbb{R}^{2n} and $c \in \mathbb{R}$ is some nonzero constant. Note that $\eta(u, v) = \langle \operatorname{alt}(u), v \rangle$ for $u, v \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}$, which shows that η vanishes on X if and only if $\Delta_I(X) = c\Delta_{[2n]\setminus I}(X)$ for all $I \in \binom{[2n]}{n}$. Applying this equality twice, we get $\Delta_I(X) = c\Delta_{[2n]\setminus I}(X) = c^2\Delta_I(X)$, and thus $c = \pm 1$. We are done with the proof.

Remark 5.2. Lusztig [Lus94] has defined the totally nonnegative part $(G/P)_{\geq 0}$ of any partial flag variety G/P inside a split reductive algebraic group G over \mathbb{R} . For a specific choice of G = O(n, n) (i.e. the *split orthogonal group*, which corresponds to the Dynkin diagram of type D_n) and a maximal parabolic subgroup $P \cong SL_n(\mathbb{R})$ (corresponding to the Dynkin diagram of type A_{n-1} , obtained from D_n by removing a leaf adjacent to a degree 3 vertex), G/P becomes equal to OG(n, 2n). If we had $(G/P)_{\geq 0} = OG_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$ then the fact that $OG_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$ is a closed ball would follow from the results of [GKL18]. However, the relationship between Lusztig's $(G/P)_{\geq 0}$ and $OG_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$ remains unclear to us. For instance, the cell decomposition of $(G/P)_{>0}$ conjectured by Lusztig and proved by

²We thank David Speyer for suggesting to consider both OG(n, 2n) and $OG_{-}(n, 2n)$.

SMANNIAN

Rietsch [Rie98, Rie99] appears to have a different number of cells than the cell decomposition of $OG_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$ indexed by matchings on [2n] that we consider in this paper.

Remark 5.3. A different relation between the Ising model and spin representations of the orthogonal group can be found in [Kau49, SMJ78, Pal07].

Remark 5.4. The generators $g_i(t)$ from Section 3.5 belong to O(n, n), and moreover, they are hyperbolic rotation matrices, since for $t \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ and $c := \tanh(2t)$, $s := \operatorname{sech}(2t)$, there exists a unique $r(t) \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $\begin{pmatrix} 1/c & s/c \\ s/c & 1/c \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \cosh(r(t)) & \sinh(r(t)) \\ \sinh(r(t)) & \cosh(r(t)) \end{pmatrix}$. It would thus be interesting to find an analog of the theory of [LP15] for the orthogonal group rather than the symplectic group.

Remark 5.5. A more standard choice of coordinates for OG(n, 2n) is to consider the set OG'(n, 2n) of all $X \in Gr(n, 2n)$ where another symmetric bilinear form, $\eta'(u, v) := u_1v_{n+1} + u_2v_{n+2} + \cdots + u_nv_{2n}$, vanishes. Consider a $2n \times 2n$ matrix J with the only nonzero entries given by $J_{2j-1,j} = J_{2j,j} = J_{2j-1,j+n} = 1/2$, $J_{2j,j+n} = -1/2$, for all $j \in [n]$. Then the map $X \mapsto X \cdot J$ gives a bijection between $OG(n, 2n) \sqcup OG_{-}(n, 2n)$ and OG'(n, 2n). Moreover, for $M \in \operatorname{Mat}_n^{\operatorname{sym}}(\mathbb{R}, 1)$, the matrix $M \cdot J$ has the form $[I_n|M']$ for a skew-symmetric matrix M' given by $m'_{i,j} = (-1)^{i+j+1}m_{i,j}$ for $i \neq j$ and $m'_{i,j} = 0$ for i = j. A standard way to work with OG'(n, 2n) is to consider spinor coordinates, which are essentially Pfaffians of the matrix M' above, see e.g. [HS10, Section 5]. It was shown in [GBK78] that these Pfaffians are multipoint boundary correlation functions for the Ising model, as we explain in Proposition 8.7. We thank David Speyer for this remark.

Proposition 5.1 allows one to deduce that the image of the map ϕ is contained inside the orthogonal Grassmannian.

Corollary 5.6. We have $\phi(\operatorname{Mat}_{n}^{\operatorname{sym}}(\mathbb{R},1)) \subset \operatorname{OG}(n,2n)$.

Proof. Let $M \in \operatorname{Mat}_{n}^{\operatorname{sym}}(\mathbb{R}, 1)$. It is obvious from the definition of \widetilde{M} that if $u, v \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ are any two rows of \widetilde{M} then we have $\eta(u, v) = 0$, and thus by Proposition 5.1 we get $\phi(\operatorname{Mat}_{n}^{\operatorname{sym}}(\mathbb{R}, 1)) \subset \operatorname{OG}(n, 2n) \sqcup \operatorname{OG}_{-}(n, 2n)$. But note that $\operatorname{OG}(n, 2n)$ and $\operatorname{OG}_{-}(n, 2n)$ are not connected to each other inside $\operatorname{OG}(n, 2n) \sqcup \operatorname{OG}_{-}(n, 2n)$, however, $\operatorname{Mat}_{n}^{\operatorname{sym}}(\mathbb{R}, 1) \cong \mathbb{R}^{\binom{n}{2}}$ is connected. Thus $\phi(\operatorname{Mat}_{n}^{\operatorname{sym}}(\mathbb{R}, 1))$ is connected, and clearly the image of the identity matrix $I_{n} \in \operatorname{Mat}_{n}^{\operatorname{sym}}(\mathbb{R}, 1)$ belongs to $\operatorname{OG}(n, 2n)$ and not to $\operatorname{OG}_{-}(n, 2n)$. The result follows. \Box

Proposition 5.7. Let $X \in OG_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$, and let $\mathcal{M} := \mathcal{M}_X$ be the positroid of X with decorated permutation $\pi_{\mathcal{M}}$. Then $\pi_{\mathcal{M}}$ is a fixed-point free involution: if $\pi_{\mathcal{M}}(i) = j$ then $i \neq j$ and $\pi_{\mathcal{M}}(j) = i$.

Proof. It is clear from Definition 4.1 that we have $I_i^{\min}(\mathcal{M}) = [2n] \setminus I_i^{\max}(\mathcal{M})$, because $X \in OG(n, 2n)$. Suppose now that $\pi_{\mathcal{M}}(i) = j$ and that $i \neq j$. By Remark 4.3, $\pi_{\mathcal{M}}^{-1}(i)$ is the unique element of the set

$$I_i^{\max}(\mathcal{M}) \setminus I_{i+1}^{\max}(\mathcal{M}) = ([2n] \setminus I_i^{\min}(\mathcal{M})) \setminus ([2n] \setminus I_{i+1}^{\min}(\mathcal{M})) = I_{i+1}^{\min}(\mathcal{M}) \setminus I_i^{\min}(\mathcal{M}),$$

which is equal to $\{\pi_{\mathcal{M}}(i)\} = \{j\}$. Thus $\pi_{\mathcal{M}}^{-1}(i) = j$, equivalently, $\pi_{\mathcal{M}}(j) = i$, so $\pi_{\mathcal{M}}$ is an involution. It remains to show that it is *fixed-point free*, i.e., that $\pi_{\mathcal{M}}(i) \neq i$ for all $i \in [2n]$. We can have $\pi_{\mathcal{M}}(i) = i$ if either i is a *loop* or a *coloop* of \mathcal{M} , that is, if either $i \in I$ for all $I \in \mathcal{M}$ or $i \notin I$ for all $I \in \mathcal{M}$, respectively. Choose some $I \in \mathcal{M}$. Then $[2n] \setminus I$ also

belongs to \mathcal{M} , which shows that *i* is neither a loop nor a coloop of \mathcal{M} . We are done with the proof.

Remark 5.8. Recall that given a matching τ on [2n], Definition 3.20 gives two disjoint sets $I_i^{\min}(\tau)$ and $I_i^{\max}(\tau)$ for each $i \in [2n]$. It is easy to check that if π is the fixed-point free involution corresponding to τ then $I_i^{\min}(\mathcal{M}_{\pi}) = I_i^{\min}(\tau)$ and $I_i^{\max}(\mathcal{M}_{\pi}) = I_i^{\max}(\tau)$.

In Section 3.5, we described how to transform a planar graph G embedded in a disk into a medial graph G^{\times} , and then how to obtain a medial pairing τ_G from G^{\times} . Not all matchings can be obtained in this way, for example, when n = 2, the matching $\{\{1, 4\}, \{2, 3\}\}$ is not a medial pairing of any graph G. It will thus be more convenient for us to work with medial graphs rather than matchings. In Section 6, we introduce generalized planar Ising networks which correspond to all matchings on [2n].

Definition 5.9. A medial graph is a planar graph $G^{\times} = (V^{\times}, E^{\times})$ embedded in a disk, such that it has 2n boundary vertices $d_1, d_2, \ldots, d_{2n} \in V^{\times}$ in counterclockwise order, each of degree 1, and such that every other vertex of G^{\times} has degree 4.

The non-boundary vertices (the ones that have degree 4) are called *interior vertices* of G^{\times} , and we let $V_{\text{int}}^{\times} := V^{\times} \setminus \{d_1, \ldots, d_{2n}\}$ denote the set of such vertices. Each medial graph G^{\times} gives rise to a *medial pairing* $\tau_{G^{\times}}$, as in Section 3.5. We say that a medial graph G^{\times} is *reduced* if the number of its interior vertices equals $\operatorname{xing}(\tau_{G^{\times}})$. Equivalently, G^{\times} is reduced if every edge of G^{\times} belongs to some medial strand connecting two boundary vertices, no medial strand intersects itself, and no two medial strands intersect more than once.

Lemma 5.10. For every matching τ on [2n], there exists a reduced medial graph G^{\times} satisfying $\tau_{G^{\times}} = \tau$.

Proof. For each pair $\{i, j\} \in \tau$, connect d_i with d_j by a straight line segment. Then perturb each line segment slightly so that every point inside the disk would belong to at most two segments, obtaining a *pseudoline arrangement*. Let G^{\times} be obtained from this pseudoline arrangement by putting an interior vertex at each intersection point. It is clear that G^{\times} is a reduced medial graph whose medial pairing is τ . Alternatively, G^{\times} can be constructed by induction on $\operatorname{xing}(\tau)$ in an obvious way using the poset P_n from Definition 5.15.

Let us say that a medial network $N^{\times} = (G^{\times}, J^{\times})$ is a medial graph G^{\times} together with a function $J^{\times} : V_{int}^{\times} \to \mathbb{R}_{>0}$. Thus if N = (G, J) is a planar Ising network then the edges of G correspond to the interior vertices of the corresponding medial graph G^{\times} and thus the Ising network N gives rise to a medial network $N^{\times} = (G^{\times}, J^{\times})$, as described in Sections 3.5 and 6. In the remainder of this section, we will work with medial networks rather than with planar Ising networks.

Every medial graph gives rise to a plabic graph. In order to describe this correspondence, we first introduce a canonical way to orient each medial graph, as described in [HWX14].

Proposition 5.11. Let G^{\times} be a medial graph. Then there exists a unique orientation of the edges of G^{\times} such that:

- (1) for $i \in [2n]$, d_i is a source if and only if i is odd;
- (2) each interior vertex $v \in V_{int}^{\times}$ of G^{\times} is incident to two incoming and two outgoing arrows so that their directions alternate around v.



FIGURE 6. Uncrossing the pairs $\{i, j\}$ and $\{i', j'\}$.

Proof. If G^{\times} is connected then it is easy to see that there are just two orientations satisfying the second condition, since we can color the faces of G^{\times} in a bipartite way and then orient all black faces clockwise and all white faces counterclockwise, or vice versa. One of these two orientations will satisfy the first condition. If G^{\times} has C connected components then there are 2^{C} orientations of G satisfying the second condition, but there will still be one of them that satisfies the first condition, because the number of vertices of each connected component is even.

Definition 5.12. Given a medial network $N^{\times} = (G^{\times}, J^{\times})$, the associated weighted plabic graph (G^{\Box}, wt) is constructed as follows. First, orient the edges of G^{\times} as in Proposition 5.11, and then for each oriented edge e of G^{\times} , put a white vertex e° of G^{\Box} close to the source of e and a black vertex e° of G^{\Box} close to the target of e. If the source (resp., the target) of e is a boundary vertex d_i then we set $e^{\circ} := d_i$ (resp., $e^{\bullet} := d_i$). Now, for each edge $e \in E^{\Box}$ of G^{\Box} , connect e^{\bullet} and e° by an edge of G^{\Box} , and set its weight to 1: wt($\{e^{\bullet}, e^{\circ}\}$) := 1. Additionally for every interior vertex $v \in V_{\text{int}}^{\times}$ of G^{\Box} incident to edges $e_1, e_2, e_3, e_4 \in E^{\Box}$ in counterclockwise order so that v is the target of e_1 and e_3 and the source of e_2 and e_4 , add four edges $\{e_1^{\bullet}, e_2^{\circ}\}, \{e_2^{\circ}, e_3^{\bullet}\}, \{e_3^{\bullet}, e_4^{\circ}\}, \{e_4^{\circ}, e_1^{\bullet}\}$ to G^{\Box} . The weights of these edges are given by

(5.1)
$$\operatorname{wt}(\{e_1^{\bullet}, e_2^{\circ}\}) = \operatorname{wt}(\{e_3^{\bullet}, e_4^{\circ}\}) := s_v, \quad \operatorname{wt}(\{e_2^{\circ}, e_3^{\bullet}\}) = \operatorname{wt}(\{e_4^{\circ}, e_1^{\bullet}\}) := c_v,$$

where s_v and c_v are given by (3.6), that is,

$$s_v := \operatorname{sech}(2J_v^{\times}) = \frac{2}{\exp(2J_v^{\times}) + \exp(-2J_v^{\times})}; \quad c_v := \tanh(2J_v^{\times}) = \frac{\exp(2J_v^{\times}) - \exp(-2J_v^{\times})}{\exp(2J_v^{\times}) + \exp(-2J_v^{\times})}.$$

This defines a weighted plabic graph (G^{\Box}, wt) associated to the medial network $N^{\times} = (G^{\times}, J^{\times})$.

Recall that for a medial graph G^{\times} , the corresponding medial pairing $\tau_{G^{\times}} = \{\{i_1, j_1\}, \ldots, \{i_n, j_n\}\}$ is a matching on [2n]. We define a permutation $\pi_{G^{\times}} : [2n] \to [2n]$ by setting $\pi_{G^{\times}}(i_k) := j_k$ and $\pi_{G^{\times}}(j_k) := i_k$ for all $k \in [2n]$. Thus $\pi_{G^{\times}}$ is a fixed-point free involution.

Lemma 5.13. A medial graph G^{\times} is reduced if and only if the corresponding plabic graph G^{\Box} is reduced. We have $\pi_{G^{\times}} = \pi_{G^{\Box}}$.

Proof. This is straightforward to check from the definitions, since the medial strands correspond to the strands in G^{\Box} from Definition 4.4.

Proposition 5.14. Given a medial network $N^{\times} = (G^{\times}, J^{\times})$, let (G^{\Box}, wt) be the corresponding weighted plabic graph. Then $\overline{\text{Meas}}(G^{\Box}, \text{wt})$ yields an element of $\Pi^{>0}_{\mathcal{M}} \cap \text{OG}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$, where $\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{M}_{\pi_{C^{\times}}}$ is the positroid corresponding to the fixed-point free involution $\pi_{G^{\times}}$. *Proof.* By Lemma 5.13, we have $\pi_{G^{\times}} = \pi_{G^{\square}}$. Let $X \in \operatorname{Gr}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$ be the point given by $\overline{\operatorname{Meas}}(G^{\square}, \operatorname{wt})$. By Theorem 4.5, X belongs to $\Pi_{\mathcal{M}}^{>0}$, and it remains to show that X belongs to $\operatorname{OG}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$. Given an almost perfect matching \mathcal{A} of G^{\square} , let us define $S^{\times}(\mathcal{A}) \subset E^{\times}$ to be the set of edges e of G^{\times} such that the edge $\{e^{\bullet}, e^{\circ}\}$ of G^{\square} belongs to \mathcal{A} . We claim that for all sets $R \subset E^{\times}$ of edges of G^{\times} , we have

(5.2)
$$\sum_{S^{\times}(\mathcal{A})=R} \operatorname{wt}(\mathcal{A}) = \sum_{S^{\times}(\mathcal{A})=E^{\times}\setminus R} \operatorname{wt}(\mathcal{A}),$$

where the sums are over almost perfect matchings of G^{\Box} . The left hand side of (5.2) is equal to the product over all interior vertices $v \in V_{\text{int}}^{\times}$ of G^{\times} of q(v), where q(v) is equal to either $c_e, s_e, c_e^2 + s_e^2$, 1, or 0, depending on which of the four edges of G^{\times} adjacent to v belong to R. It is clear from Figure 3 that replacing R with its complement does not affect this product. (The only non-trivial change is replacing $c_e^2 + s_e^2$ with 1, but recall that we have $c_e^2 + s_e^2 = 1$ by construction.) This proves (5.2), and clearly if two almost perfect matchings $\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}'$ of G^{\Box} satisfy $S^{\times}(\mathcal{A}') = E^{\times} \setminus S^{\times}(\mathcal{A})$ then they also satisfy $\partial(\mathcal{A}') = [2n] \setminus \partial(\mathcal{A})$, finishing the proof. \Box

For a matching τ on [2n], let \mathcal{M}_{τ} be the positroid corresponding to the fixed-point free involution $\pi : [2n] \to [2n]$ associated with τ , and denote by $\Pi_{\tau}^{>0} := \Pi_{\mathcal{M}_{\tau}}^{>0}$. Following [Lam14], denote by P_n the partially ordered set (*poset*) of all matchings τ on [2n]. (It is easy to see that P_n has $\frac{(2n)!}{n!2^n}$ elements.) The covering relations of P_n are described as follows. Given a matching τ on [2n], suppose that the pairs $\{i, j\}, \{i', j'\} \in \tau$ form a crossing, as in Definition 3.16. Introduce two matchings

(5.3)
$$\tau' := \tau \setminus \{\{i, j\}, \{i', j'\}\} \cup \{\{i, j'\}, \{i', j\}\}; \\ \tau'' := \tau \setminus \{\{i, j\}, \{i', j'\}\} \cup \{\{i, i'\}, \{j, j'\}\}.$$

Definition 5.15. We say that τ' and τ'' are obtained from τ by uncrossing the pairs $\{i, j\}$ and $\{i', j'\}$ (see Figure 6). In addition, if $\operatorname{xing}(\tau') + 1 = \operatorname{xing}(\tau)$ (resp., $\operatorname{xing}(\tau'') + 1 = \operatorname{xing}(\tau)$), we write $\tau' < \tau$ (resp., $\tau'' < \tau$), and let P_n be the poset whose order relation \leq is the transitive closure of <.

Remark 5.16. Equivalently, as explained in [Lam14, Section 4.5], given a medial graph G^{\times} with medial pairing τ , we have $\tau' < \tau$ if and only if "uncrossing" the unique vertex $v \in V_{\text{int}}^{\times}$ of G^{\times} that belongs to the intersection of medial strands connecting d_i to d_j and $d_{i'}$ to $d_{j'}$ yields a *reduced* medial graph with medial pairing τ' . Here *uncrossing* an interior vertex of a medial graph means replacing its neighborhood in one of the two ways shown in Figure 6.

By [Lam14, Lemma 4.13], the poset P_n is graded with grading given by $xing(\tau)$, and by [HK18, Lam15], P_n is a shellable Eulerian poset. See Figure 7 for the case n = 3.

We are now ready to state the main result of this section.

Theorem 5.17.

- (i) Given a reduced medial graph G^{\times} , let G^{\Box} be the corresponding plabic graph with positroid $\mathcal{M} := \mathcal{M}_{G^{\Box}}$. Then the map $J^{\times} \mapsto \overline{\mathrm{Meas}}(G^{\Box}, \mathrm{wt})$ is a homeomorphism between $\mathbb{R}_{>0}^{E^{\times}}$ and $\Pi^{>0}_{\mathcal{M}} \cap \mathrm{OG}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$.
- (ii) The set $OG_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$ is a disjoint union of cells

(5.4)
$$\operatorname{OG}_{\geq 0}(n,2n) = \bigsqcup_{\tau \in P_n} \left(\prod_{\tau}^{>0} \cap \operatorname{OG}_{\geq 0}(n,2n) \right),$$



FIGURE 7. The Hasse diagram of the poset P_3 .

and each cell $\Pi_{\tau}^{>0} \cap \operatorname{OG}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$ is homeomorphic to $\mathbb{R}^{\operatorname{xing}(\tau)}$. (iii) For $\tau \in P_n$, the closure of the cell $\Pi_{\tau}^{>0} \cap \operatorname{OG}_{>0}(n, 2n)$ in $\operatorname{Gr}(n, 2n)$ equals

(5.5)
$$\overline{(\Pi_{\tau}^{>0} \cap \operatorname{OG}_{\geq 0}(n,2n))} = \bigsqcup_{\sigma \in P_n: \sigma \leq \tau} \left(\Pi_{\sigma}^{>0} \cap \operatorname{OG}_{\geq 0}(n,2n) \right).$$

Proof. As we have shown in Proposition 5.7, for every $X \in \mathrm{OG}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$, the decorated permutation $\pi = \pi_{\mathcal{M}_X}$ associated with the positroid \mathcal{M}_X of X is a fixed-point free involution, and thus (5.4) follows from (4.3). The remainder of part (ii) (that each cell is an open ball) follows from part (i), which we prove now. Thus we fix a reduced medial graph G^{\times} and the corresponding plabic graph G^{\Box} , reduced by Lemma 5.13. Let $\psi : \mathbb{R}_{>0}^{E^{\times}} \to \Pi_{\mathcal{M}}^{>0} \cap$ $\mathrm{OG}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$ be the map that sends $J^{\times} \mapsto \overline{\mathrm{Meas}}(G^{\Box}, \mathrm{wt})$. We first show that ψ is injective. By Theorem 4.6, it suffices to show that the map $J^{\times} : V_{\mathrm{int}}^{\times} \to \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ can be reconstructed from the corresponding weight function $\mathrm{wt} \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}^{E^{\Box}}/\mathrm{Gauge}$. Fix an interior vertex $v \in V_{\mathrm{int}}^{\times}$ of G^{\times} and consider the corresponding four vertices $v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4 \in V^{\Box}$ of G^{\Box} on the four edges of G^{\times} incident to v. Let $e_{12}, e_{23}, e_{34}, e_{14}$ be the four edges of G^{\Box} forming a square around v. We have $\mathrm{wt}(e_{12}) = \mathrm{wt}(e_{34}) = s_v$ and $\mathrm{wt}(e_{23}) = \mathrm{wt}(e_{14}) = c_v$, as in (5.1). Suppose that we have applied a gauge transformation to wt obtaining another weight function wt'. Thus we have rescaled all edges adjacent to the vertex v_k by some number $t_k \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ for $1 \leq k \leq 4$. Therefore

$$\operatorname{wt}'(e_{12}) = t_1 t_2 s_v, \quad \operatorname{wt}'(e_{34}) = t_3 t_4 s_v, \quad \operatorname{wt}'(e_{23}) = t_2 t_3 c_v, \quad \operatorname{wt}'(e_{14}) = t_1 t_4 c_v.$$

In order for wt' to come from some other map $(J^{\times})': V_{int}^{\times} \to \mathbb{R}_{>0}$, we must have

$$t_1 t_2 s_v = t_3 t_4 s_e = s'_v, \quad t_2 t_3 c_v = t_1 t_4 c_e = c'_v, \quad (s'_v)^2 + (c'_v)^2 = 1,$$

where $s'_v = \operatorname{sech}(2(J^{\times})'_v)$ and $c'_v = \tanh(2(J^{\times})'_v)$. But the above equations imply that $t_1 = t_2 = t_3 = t_4 = 1$, and it follows that ψ is injective.

Clearly ψ is continuous, and we now prove that it is surjective, and that its inverse is also continuous. We need the following simple observation, whose proof we leave as an exercise to the reader.

Lemma 5.18. Suppose that G^{\times} is a connected medial graph having at least one interior vertex. Then there exists an interior vertex $v \in V_{int}^{\times}$ and an index $i \in [2n]$ such that v is connected in G^{\times} to both d_i and d_{i+1} (modulo 2n).

Note that Proposition 3.22 follows from Lemma 5.18 as an immediate corollary.

We now return to the proof of Theorem 5.17, part (i). Let τ be a matching on [2n], π be the corresponding fixed-point free involution, $\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{M}_{\pi}$ be the corresponding positroid. Choose a reduced medial graph G^{\times} with medial pairing $\tau_{G^{\times}} = \tau$ (which exists by Lemma 5.10), and let G^{\Box} be the associated plabic graph. If G^{\times} is not connected then each of its connected components contains an even number of vertices. Moreover, in this case G^{\Box} induces the same partition of boundary vertices into connected components, and it is clear from the definition of the map Meas and Theorem 4.5 that each minor of $\overline{\text{Meas}}(G^{\Box}, \text{wt})$ is a product of the individual minors for each of the connected components. Thus the problem naturally separates into several independent problems, one for each connected component of G^{\times} , and in what follows, we assume that G^{\times} is connected.

Let $X \in \Pi_{\mathcal{M}}^{\geq 0} \cap \mathrm{OG}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$. By Theorem 4.6, there exists a weight function $\mathrm{wt} : E^{\Box} \to \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ such that $\overline{\mathrm{Meas}}(G^{\Box}, \mathrm{wt}) = X$, and our goal is to show that there exists a unique function $J^{\times} : V_{\mathrm{int}}^{\times} \to \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ such that $\psi(J^{\times}) : E^{\Box} \to \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ is obtained from wt using gauge transformations. Choose $v \in V_{\mathrm{int}}^{\times}$ and $i \in [2n]$ as in Lemma 5.18. Thus G^{\Box} contains a removable bridge between i and i + 1 (modulo 2n). Denote by v_1 and v_2 the vertices of G^{\Box} adjacent to d_i and d_{i+1} respectively, and denote by v_3 and v_4 the other two vertices of G^{\Box} so that v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4 surround v in counterclockwise order. Applying gauge transformations to v_1 and v_2 , we may assume that $\mathrm{wt}(\{v_1, d_i\}) = \mathrm{wt}(\{v_2, d_{i+1}\}) = 1$. Let $s := \mathrm{wt}(\{v_1, v_2\}) > 0$. Applying gauge transformations to v_3 and v_4 , we may assume that $\mathrm{wt}(\{v_1, v_4\}) = s$, and $\mathrm{wt}(\{v_1, v_4\}) = \mathrm{wt}(\{v_2, v_3\}) = c$ for some $c \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$. Now, let $I := I_{i+1}^{\min}(\mathcal{M})$ and $J := [2n] \setminus I = I_{i+1}^{\max}(\mathcal{M})$. Thus $i + 1 \in I$ and $i \in J$. Choose some $n \times 2n$ matrix representing X and denote by $X_k \in \mathbb{R}^n$ its k-th column. For $u \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $k \in [2n]$, let $X(k \to u)$ denote the matrix obtained from X by replacing its k-th column with u. We introduce linear functions $h_I, h_J : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ as follows:

$$h_I(u) := \Delta_I(X(i+1 \to u)), \quad h_J(u) := \Delta_J(X(i \to u)).$$

Denote $u := X_i$ and $w := X_{i+1}$. Since $X \in OG(n, 2n)$, we get $h_I(w) = h_J(u)$ and $h_I(u) = h_J(w)$. Let $(G^{\Box'}, wt')$ be obtained from (G^{\Box}, wt) by removing the bridge $\{v_1, v_2\}$, and let $X' \in \operatorname{Gr}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n) := \overline{\operatorname{Meas}}(G^{\Box'}, wt')$. By the first part of Theorem 4.8, we have $s = h_I(w)/h_I(u)$. By Lemma 4.9, we have $(X')_i = u$ while $(X')_{i+1} = w - su$. Now, after removing degree 2 vertices³ v_1 and v_2 from $G^{\Box'}$ and denoting the resulting graph $G^{\Box''}$, each of the vertices d_i and d_{i+1} changes color and becomes adjacent to an edge of weight wt'($\{d_i, v_4\}$) = wt'($\{d_{i+1}, v_3\}$) = c. Let us define wt'' to be the same as wt' except that wt''($\{d_i, v_4\}$) = wt'($\{d_{i+1}, v_3\}$) := 1, and let $X'' := \overline{\operatorname{Meas}}(G^{\Box''}, wt'')$. It is clear from the definition of $\overline{\operatorname{Meas}}$ that $(X'')_i = cu$ and $(X'')_{i+1} = \frac{1}{c}(w - su)$. Finally, $G^{\Box''}$ has a removable

³It is well known that adding/removing vertices of degree 2 does not affect the result of $\overline{\text{Meas}}$, see [Lam16, Section 4.5 (M2)].

bridge between i and i + 1 so by the second part of Theorem 4.8, the weight wt"($\{v_3, v_4\}$) of this bridge must be equal to

wt''({v₃, v₄}) =
$$\frac{\Delta_J(X'')}{\Delta_{J\cup\{i+1\}\setminus\{i\}}(X'')} = \frac{h_J(cu)}{h_J\left(\frac{1}{c}(w-su)\right)}$$

which after substituting $s := h_I(w)/h_I(u)$, $h_J(w) := h_I(u)$, $h_J(u) := h_I(w)$, and using the linearity of h_I , transforms into

wt''({v₃, v₄}) =
$$\frac{c^2 h_I(u) h_I(w)}{h_I(u)^2 - h_I(w)^2}$$

By construction, wt["]($\{v_3, v_4\}$) is equal to s, and thus after substituting $h_I(w) := sh_I(u)$ the above equation becomes

$$s = \frac{c^2 s h_I(u)^2}{(1-s^2)h_I(u)^2} = \frac{c^2 s}{1-s^2},$$

which is equivalent to $c^2 + s^2 = 1$. Since we have s, c > 0, it follows that 0 < s, c < 1 and thus there exists a unique $t \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ satisfying $s = \operatorname{sech}(2t)$ and $c = \tanh(2t)$. Moreover, it is clear that t depends continuously on the minors of X, since the denominators $\Delta_I(X) = \Delta_J(X)$ must be positive. Setting $J_v^{\times} := t$, we uncross (in the sense of Remark 5.16) the interior vertex v in G^{\times} so that the corresponding graph G^{\Box} would be obtained by removing the bridges $\{v_1, v_2\}$ and $\{v_3, v_4\}$, and proceed by induction, finishing the proof of part (i) (and therefore of part (ii) as well).

It remains to prove (5.5). There is a certain partial order (called the *affine Bruhat order*) on the set of decorated permutations such that two decorated permutations π, σ satisfy $\sigma \leq \pi$ if and only if the closure of the positroid cell $\Pi_{\mathcal{M}_{\pi}}^{>0}$ contains $\Pi_{\mathcal{M}_{\sigma}}^{>0}$. We have

$$\Pi_{\mathcal{M}_{\pi}} = \bigsqcup_{\sigma \leq \pi} \Pi_{\mathcal{M}_{\sigma}}^{>0}$$

see e.g. [Lam16, Theorem 8.1]. Moreover, the restriction of the affine Bruhat order to the set of fixed-point free involutions coincides with the poset P_n from Definition 5.15. Thus we have

$$\overline{(\Pi^{>0}_{\tau} \cap \mathrm{OG}_{\geq 0}(n,2n))} \subset \bigsqcup_{\sigma \in P_n: \sigma \leq \tau} \left(\Pi^{>0}_{\sigma} \cap \mathrm{OG}_{\geq 0}(n,2n) \right),$$

and it remains to prove that the left hand side of (5.5) contains the right hand side, i.e., that for all pairs $\sigma \leq \tau$ in P_n , the cell $\Pi_{\sigma}^{>0} \cap \operatorname{OG}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$ is contained inside the closure of $\Pi_{\tau}^{>0} \cap \operatorname{OG}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$. Clearly it is enough to consider the case $\sigma < \tau$. Then σ is obtained from τ by uncrossing some pairs $\{i, j\}$ and $\{i', j'\}$. Moreover, since G^{\times} is reduced, it contains a unique vertex $v \in V_{\text{int}}^{\times}$ which belongs to the medial strands connecting i to j and i' to j', and one of the two ways of uncrossing v yields a reduced medial graph with medial pairing σ , see Remark 5.16. But the two ways of uncrossing v correspond to sending J_v^{\times} to either 0 or ∞ , or equivalently, sending either $s_v \to 1, c_v \to 0$ or $s_v \to 0, c_v \to 1$. By part (i), we indeed see that $\Pi_{\sigma}^{>0} \cap \operatorname{OG}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$ is a subset of the closure of $\Pi_{\tau}^{>0} \cap \operatorname{OG}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$, finishing the proof of Theorem 5.17.

6. FROM THE ISING MODEL TO THE ORTHOGONAL GRASSMANNIAN

In this section, we study the relationship between the space $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_n$ and the space $OG_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$.

We start by slightly extending the notion of a planar Ising network so that contracting an edge in such a network would yield another such network. Throughout, we assume that a planar graph embedded in a disk has no *loops* (i.e. edges connecting a vertex to itself) or interior vertices of degree 1.

Definition 6.1. A generalized planar Ising network is a pair N = (G, J) where G = (V, E) is a planar graph embedded in a disk and $J : E \to \mathbb{R}_{>0} \cup \{\infty\}$. We denote $E = E_{\text{fin}} \sqcup E_{\infty}$, where $E_{\infty} := \{e \in E \mid J_e = \infty\}$. The Ising model associated to N is a probability measure on the space

$$\{-1,1\}^{V/E_{\infty}} := \{\sigma : V \to \{-1,1\} \mid \sigma_u = \sigma_v \text{ for all } \{u,v\} \in E_{\infty}\}.$$

The definitions of the probability $\mathbf{P}(\sigma)$ of a spin configuration $\sigma \in \{-1, 1\}^{V/E_{\infty}}$, the partition function Z, and a two-point boundary correlation $\langle \sigma_i \sigma_j \rangle$ are obtained from the corresponding definitions (2.1), (2.2), and (2.3) by replacing $\{-1, 1\}^V$ with $\{-1, 1\}^{V/E_{\infty}}$ and E with E_{fin} . As before, we let $M(G, J) = (\langle \sigma_i \sigma_j \rangle) \in \text{Mat}_n^{\text{sym}}(\mathbb{R}, 1)$ denote the boundary correlation matrix. Thus we have $m_{i,j} = 1$ whenever there exists a path connecting b_i to b_j by edges in E_{∞} .

Definition 6.2. To each generalized planar Ising network N = (G, J) we associate a medial network $N^{\times} = (G^{\times}, J^{\times})$. First suppose that $E = E_{\text{fin}}$, i.e., that J only takes values in $\mathbb{R}_{>0}$. Then the medial graph $G^{\times} = (V^{\times}, E^{\times})$ is obtained from G as in Figures 2 and 4. More precisely, the vertex set V^{\times} is given by

$$V^{\times} = \{ d_1, \dots, d_{2n} \} \sqcup \{ v_e \mid e \in E \},\$$

where the d_1, \ldots, d_{2n} are boundary vertices placed counterclockwise on the boundary of the disk so that b_i is between d_{2i-1} and d_{2i} , while v_e is the midpoint of the edge $e \in E$ of G. The edges of G^{\times} are described as follows. If $e, e' \in E$ share both a vertex and a face then we connect v_e to $v_{e'}$ in G^{\times} . In addition, for each $i \in [n]$, we connect d_{2i-1} (resp., d_{2i}) with v_e where $e \in E$ is the first in the clockwise (resp., counterclockwise) order edge of G incident to b_i . If b_i is isolated in G then we connect d_{2i-1} to d_{2i} in G^{\times} . Thus each vertex $v_e \in V^{\times}$ has degree 4, and each boundary vertex d_i , $i \in [2n]$, has degree 1 in G^{\times} . Finally, we set $J_{v_e}^{\times} := J_e$.

Suppose now that $E \neq E_{\text{fin}}$, and thus J takes the value of ∞ on some edges of G. Let $N_{\text{fin}} = (G, J_{\text{fin}})$ be obtained from N by setting $(J_{\text{fin}})_e := 1$ for all $e \in E_{\infty}$ and $(J_{\text{fin}})_e := J_e$ for $e \in E_{\text{fin}}$. Let $N_{\text{fin}}^{\times} := (G_{\text{fin}}^{\times}, J_{\text{fin}}^{\times})$ be the medial network associated to N_{fin} . Then the medial network $N^{\times} = (G^{\times}, J^{\times})$ associated to N is obtained from N_{fin}^{\times} by "uncrossing" (see Remark 5.16) the vertices v_e of G_{fin}^{\times} for all $e \in E_{\infty}$. There are two ways to uncross the vertex v_e as in Figure 6, and we choose the one where no edge of the resulting graph G^{\times} intersects the corresponding edge e of G. This uniquely defines the medial graph G^{\times} , and we set $J_{v_e}^{\times} := J_e$ for all $e \in E_{\text{fin}}$.

The notion of a generalized planar Ising network is equivalent to the notion of a *cactus* network introduced in [Lam14, Section 4.1], where he also assigns a medial graph to it in the same way as in Definition 6.2.

Remark 6.3. Given a planar Ising network N = (G, J), the above procedure assigns a medial network $N^{\times} = (G^{\times}, J^{\times})$ to it. In Section 5, we assign a weighted plabic graph

 (G^{\square}, wt) to N^{\times} . It is trivial to check that the same weighted plabic graph (G^{\square}, wt) gets assigned to N = (G, J) in the construction described in Section 3.3.

To each medial graph G^{\times} (and thus to each generalized planar Ising network) we have associated a medial pairing τ in Section 3.5. Let us denote

 $\mathcal{X}_{\tau} := \{ M(G, J) \mid N = (G, J) \text{ is a generalized planar Ising network with medial pairing } \tau \}.$ The following stratification of $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_n$ will be deduced from Theorem 2.3 at the end of Section 7.

Proposition 6.4. The space $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_n$ decomposes as

(6.1)
$$\overline{\mathcal{X}}_n = \bigsqcup_{\tau \in P_n} \mathcal{X}_{\tau}$$

and for each $\tau \in P_n$, \mathcal{X}_{τ} is homeomorphic to $\mathbb{R}^{\operatorname{xing}(\tau)}$, with closure relations given by the poset P_n .

Given a (generalized) planar Ising network N = (G, J), we have described two ways to assign an element of $X \in \mathrm{OG}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$ to N. First, one can take the boundary correlation matrix M = M(G, J), and let $X := \phi(M)$, as we did in Section 2.3. Second, one can construct a medial network $N^{\times} = (G^{\times}, J^{\times})$ as above, transform it into a weighted plabic graph (G^{\Box}, wt) , and then put $X' := \overline{\mathrm{Meas}}(G^{\Box}, \mathrm{wt})$, as we did in Section 3.3. Theorem 5.17, part (i) shows that the second map $J \mapsto \overline{\mathrm{Meas}}(G^{\Box}, \mathrm{wt})$ gives a homeomorphism between $\mathbb{R}^{E}_{>0}$ and $\Pi^{>0}_{\tau} \cap \mathrm{OG}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$, where τ is the medial pairing of G^{\times} . The goal of the rest of this section is to show that the outputs $X = \phi(M)$ and $X' = \overline{\mathrm{Meas}}(G^{\Box}, \mathrm{wt})$ of these two maps coincide.

Theorem 6.5. Let N = (G, J) be a (generalized) planar Ising network with boundary correlation matrix M = M(G, J). Define $X := \phi(M)$. Let $N^{\times} = (G^{\times}, J^{\times})$ and (G^{\Box}, wt) be the medial network and the weighted plabic graph corresponding to N, and put $X' := \overline{\text{Meas}}(G^{\Box}, \text{wt})$. Then X = X' in Gr(n, 2n).

We give two proofs of Theorem 6.5, one using Dubédat's results [Dub11], and one using a formula of Lis [Lis17] for boundary correlations in terms of the *random alternating flow model*. Note that it suffices to prove Theorem 6.5 only for planar Ising networks, since the corresponding statement for generalized planar Ising networks is obtained by taking the limit $J_e \to \infty$ for all $e \in E_{\infty}$.

Before we proceed with the proofs, we need several preliminary results.

Proof of Lemma 3.2. By (3.2), it is enough to show that $m_{i,j} = 2^{-n} \sum_{I \in \mathcal{E}_n(\{i,j\})} \Delta_I(\widetilde{M})$. For $k \in [n]$, denote by $e_k \in \mathbb{R}^n$ the k-th standard basis vector, and for $k \in [2n]$, denote by $(\widetilde{M})_k$ the k-th column of \widetilde{M} . Consider an $n \times n$ matrix A with columns

$$e_1, e_2, \dots, e_{i-1}, (\overline{M})_{2i-1}, (\overline{M})_{2i}, e_{i+1}, \dots, e_{j-1}, e_{j+1}, \dots, e_n$$

Since by Remark 2.2, $2e_k = (\widetilde{M})_{2k-1} + (\widetilde{M})_{2k}$ for all $k \in [n]$, we can expand det A in terms of minors of \widetilde{M} :

$$\det A = 2^{-n+2} \sum_{I \in \mathcal{E}_n(\{i,j\}): 2i-1, 2i \in I} \Delta_I(\widetilde{M}).$$

On the other hand, since most of the columns of A are basis vectors, we can compute its determinant directly: det $A = 2m_{i,j}$, where the sign in (2.4) is chosen so that we would have

 $det A = 2m_{i,j}$ and not $det A = -2m_{i,j}$. Similarly, we can define an $n \times n$ matrix B with columns

$$e_1, e_2, \ldots, e_{i-1}, e_{i+1}, \ldots, e_{j-1}, (\widetilde{M})_{2j-1}, (\widetilde{M})_{2j}, e_{j+1}, \ldots, e_n.$$

We have $det B = 2m_{i,j}$ as well, and

$$\det B = 2^{-n+2} \sum_{I \in \mathcal{E}_n(\{i,j\}): 2j-1, 2j \in I} \Delta_I(\widetilde{M})$$

It remains to note that for all $I \in \mathcal{E}_n(\{i, j\})$, we have either $2i - 1, 2i \in I$ or $2j - 1, 2j \in I$, but not both. Thus

$$4m_{i,j} = \det A + \det B = 2^{-n+2} \sum_{I \in \mathcal{E}_n(\{i,j\})} \Delta_I(\widetilde{M}),$$

finishing the proof.

Lemma 6.6. Let $J := \{1, 3, ..., 2n - 1\}$ and $X' \in OG_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$. Then for all $I \in {\binom{[2n]}{n}}$, we have

$$\Delta_I(X') \le \Delta_J(X')$$

Proof. This follows from Skandera's inequalities [Ska04] for $\operatorname{Gr}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$. Namely, by [FP16, Theorem 6.1], we have $\Delta_I(X')\Delta_{[2n]\setminus I}(X') \leq \Delta_J(X')\Delta_{[2n]\setminus J}(X')$ for all $X' \in \operatorname{Gr}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$. In particular, if $X' \in \operatorname{OG}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$, this becomes $(\Delta_I(X'))^2 \leq (\Delta_J(X'))^2$, which finishes the proof.

An important consequence of the above lemma is that for $J := \{1, 3, ..., 2n - 1\}$ and all $X' \in OG_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$, we have $\Delta_J(X') > 0$, since we must have $\Delta_I(X') > 0$ for some $I \in {\binom{[2n]}{n}}$.

Lemma 6.7. The image $\phi(\operatorname{Mat}_{n}^{\operatorname{sym}}(\mathbb{R}, 1))$ contains $\operatorname{OG}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$. Equivalently, for any $X' \in \operatorname{OG}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$, there exists a matrix $M' \in \operatorname{Mat}_{n}^{\operatorname{sym}}(\mathbb{R}, 1)$ such that $X' = \phi(M')$ as elements of $\operatorname{Gr}(n, 2n)$.

Proof. We are going to use Lemma 3.2. Choose some $n \times 2n$ matrix A representing X'in $\operatorname{Gr}(n, 2n)$, and let \widetilde{I}_n be the $n \times 2n$ matrix given by $(\widetilde{I}_n)_{i,2i-1} = (\widetilde{I}_n)_{i,2i} = 1$ and the remaining entries being zero. Remark 2.2 says that for a matrix $M' \in \operatorname{Mat}_n^{\operatorname{sym}}(\mathbb{R}, 1)$, we have $\widetilde{M'} \cdot (\widetilde{I}_n)^T = 2I_n$, where I_n is the $n \times n$ identity matrix, and T denotes matrix transpose. Let $B := A \cdot (\widetilde{I}_n)^T$. We claim that if $X' \in \operatorname{OG}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$ then B is an invertible matrix. Indeed, by the multilinearity of the determinant, we have $\det B = \sum_{I \in \mathcal{E}_n(\emptyset)} \Delta_I(A)$. This sum contains only nonnegative terms, and the term $\Delta_{\{1,3,\ldots,2n-1\}}(A)$ is positive by Lemma 6.6. Thus $B \in \operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{R})$ is invertible, and we can consider the matrix $C := 2 \cdot B^{-1} \cdot A$, which represents the same element X' in $\operatorname{Gr}(n, 2n)$. The matrix C satisfies $C \cdot (\widetilde{I}_n)^T = 2I_n$, in particular, $C_{i,2j-1} = -C_{i,2j}$ for $i \neq j \in [n]$. We define the $n \times n$ matrix $M' = (m'_{i,j})$ by $m'_{i,i} := 1$ and $m'_{i,j} := (-1)^{i+j+1}(i < j)C_{i,2j-1}$ for $i \neq j \in [n]$, in agreement with (2.4). It turns out that M' is a symmetric matrix, since its entries can be recovered from the minors of C as follows. As we have mentioned in the proof of Lemma 3.2, for each $I \in \mathcal{E}_n(\{i, j\})$, we have either $2i-1, 2i \in I$ or $2j - 1, 2j \in I$, but not both. Thus we can write $m'_{i,j} = 2^{-n+2} \sum_I \Delta_I(C)$, where the sum is over all $I \in \mathcal{E}_n(\{i, j\})$ such that $2i - 1, 2i \in I$. Similarly, we have $m'_{j,i} = 2^{-n+2} \sum_I \Delta_I(C)$, where the sum is over all $I \in \mathcal{E}_n(\{i, j\})$ such that $2j - 1, 2j \in I$. Since $\Delta_I(C) = \Delta_{[2n]\setminus I}(C)$

(because C represents $X' \in OG_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$), we see that $m'_{i,j} = m'_{j,i}$, and thus M' belongs to $Mat_n^{sym}(\mathbb{R}, 1)$. Similarly, using

$$2^{n-1}C_{i,2i-1} = \sum_{I \in \mathcal{E}_n(\emptyset): 2i-1 \in I} \Delta_I(C) = \sum_{I \in \mathcal{E}_n(\emptyset): 2i \in I} \Delta_I(C) = 2^{n-1}C_{i,2i},$$

and $C_{i,2i-1} + C_{2i} = 2$, we get $C_{i,2i-1} = C_{i,2i} = 1$, and thus $\phi(M') = X'$. We are done with the proof of Lemma 6.7.

In order to prove Theorem 6.5, we need to show that $X := \phi(M)$ equals to $X' := \overline{\text{Meas}}(G^{\Box}, \text{wt})$ as an element of $\operatorname{Gr}(n, 2n)$. By Theorem 5.17, we know that $X' \in \operatorname{OG}_{>0}(n, 2n)$.

By Lemma 6.7, we get a matrix $M' \in \operatorname{Mat}_n^{\operatorname{sym}}(\mathbb{R}, 1)$ such that $\phi(M') = X'$. Since $X = \phi(M)$, we have X = X' if and only if M = M'. By Lemma 3.2, the entries $m'_{i,j}$ of M' can be written as ratios of sums of minors of X'. By Theorem 4.5, each such minor is a sum over almost perfect matchings of G^{\Box} with prescribed boundary. Putting it all together, we get the following: for $i \neq j \in [n]$,

(6.2)
$$m'_{i,j} = \frac{\sum_{\mathcal{A}:\partial(\mathcal{A})\in\mathcal{E}_n(\{i,j\})} \operatorname{wt}(\mathcal{A})}{\sum_{\mathcal{A}:\partial(\mathcal{A})\in\mathcal{E}_n(\emptyset)} \operatorname{wt}(\mathcal{A})}$$

where the sums are over almost perfect matchings in G^{\Box} . Our goal is to show that $m'_{i,j}$ equals to $m_{i,j} := \langle \sigma_i \sigma_j \rangle$.

6.1. **Dubédat's bosonization identity.** Recall from Remark 3.11 that the planar bipartite graph $\widehat{G}^{\square} = (\widehat{V}^{\square}, \widehat{E}^{\square})$ is obtained from G^{\square} by adding an edge of weight 1 connecting d_{2i-1} to d_{2i} for each $i \in [n]$. We view \widehat{G}^{\square} as a weighted graph embedded in the sphere, and for each $i \in [n]$, we view the vertex b_i of G as a point inside of the square face of \widehat{G}^{\square} which contains d_{2i-1} and d_{2i} . We let $\operatorname{Match}(\widehat{G}^{\square})$ denote the set of *perfect matchings* of \widehat{G}^{\square} . Given such a perfect matching $\mathcal{A} \in \operatorname{Match}(\widehat{G}^{\square})$, its *weight* is the product of weights of its edges. We say that a generic path is a continuous path P in the sphere whose endpoints belong to the interiors of faces of \widehat{G}^{\square} , and which intersects every edge of \widehat{G}^{\square} at most once. Clearly every path in G is a generic path. We denote by $\widehat{E}_{-}^{\square}(P) \subset \widehat{E}^{\square}$ the set of edges of \widehat{G}^{\square} that intersect P. Given a perfect matching $\mathcal{A} \in \operatorname{Match}(\widehat{G}^{\square})$ and a generic path P, we define wt_ $(\mathcal{A}, P) := (-1)^{|\widehat{E}_{-}^{\square}(P) \cap \mathcal{A}|}$ wt(\mathcal{A}). In other words, wt_ (\mathcal{A}, P) is the product of weights of edges in \mathcal{A} , where the weight of every edge that intersects P is negated. We are ready to state Dubédat's formula, as explained in [dT14, Corollary 1]. See also [BdT12] and [DCL17, Remark 4] for related results.

Proposition 6.8 ([Dub11]). Let N = (G, J) be a planar Ising network with n boundary vertices. Let $i, j \in [n]$, and choose some path P connecting b_i to b_j in G. Then the squared boundary correlation function is given by

(6.3)
$$\langle \sigma_i \sigma_j \rangle^2 = \frac{\sum_{\mathcal{A} \in \operatorname{Match}(\widehat{G}^{\square})} \operatorname{wt}_{-}(\mathcal{A}, P)}{\sum_{\mathcal{A} \in \operatorname{Match}(\widehat{G}^{\square})} \operatorname{wt}(\mathcal{A})}.$$

Example 6.9. If G has two vertices and one edge as in Figure 2, then \widehat{G}^{\Box} has the following form:



There is exactly one path P in G that connects b_1 to b_2 , and $\widehat{E}_{-}^{\Box}(P)$ consists of two edges of weight s_e . There are five perfect matchings of \widehat{G}^{\Box} with weights s_e^2 , s_e , s_e , 1, and c_e^2 , respectively. Thus (6.3) in this case becomes

$$\langle \sigma_1 \sigma_2 \rangle^2 = \frac{1 - 2s_e + s_e^2 + c_e^2}{1 + 2s_e + s_e^2 + c_e^2} = \frac{1 - s_e}{1 + s_e}$$

Recall from (3.8) that (3.10) in this case yields $\langle \sigma_1 \sigma_2 \rangle = \frac{c_e}{1+s_e}$. These two formulas agree:

$$\left(\frac{c_e}{1+s_e}\right)^2 = \frac{1-s_e}{1+s_e} \iff c_e^2 = (1+s_e)(1-s_e) \iff c_e^2 + s_e^2 = 1.$$

First proof of Theorem 6.5. Recall that our goal is to show that $m'_{i,j} = \langle \sigma_i \sigma_j \rangle$, where $m'_{i,j}$ is given by (6.2). Since the right hand side of (6.2) is manifestly positive, it is enough to show $(m'_{i,j})^2 = \langle \sigma_i \sigma_j \rangle^2$, which is given by (6.3). Observe that every perfect matching \mathcal{A}' of \widehat{G}^{\Box} restricts to an almost perfect matching \mathcal{A} of G^{\Box} such that $\partial(\mathcal{A}) \in \mathcal{E}_n(\emptyset)$. Moreover, this gives a weight-preserving bijection between $\operatorname{Match}(\widehat{G}^{\Box})$ and such almost perfect matchings of G^{\Box} . Thus the denominators of (6.2) and (6.3) are equal, and therefore it suffices to show

(6.4)
$$\left(\sum_{\mathcal{A}:\partial(\mathcal{A})\in\mathcal{E}_n(\{i,j\})}\operatorname{wt}(\mathcal{A})\right)^2 = \left(\sum_{\mathcal{A}\in\operatorname{Match}(\widehat{G}^{\Box})}\operatorname{wt}_-(\mathcal{A},P)\right)\left(\sum_{\mathcal{A}\in\operatorname{Match}(\widehat{G}^{\Box})}\operatorname{wt}(\mathcal{A})\right),$$

where the sum on the left is over almost perfect matchings of G^{\Box} .

Denote $\partial(P)$ to be the set of $i \in [n]$ such that $\{d_{2i-1}, d_{2i}\}$ intersects P. The following simple observation shows that the right hand side of (6.3) does not really depend on the choice of a generic path P.

Lemma 6.10. Let P, P' be two generic paths with the same endpoints. Then we have

$$(-1)^{|\widehat{E}_{-}^{\square}(P)|+|\partial(P)|} \left(\sum_{\mathcal{A}\in \operatorname{Match}(\widehat{G}^{\square})} \operatorname{wt}_{-}(\mathcal{A}, P) \right) = (-1)^{|\widehat{E}_{-}^{\square}(P')|+|\partial(P')|} \left(\sum_{\mathcal{A}\in \operatorname{Match}(\widehat{G}^{\square})} \operatorname{wt}_{-}(\mathcal{A}, P') \right).$$

Proof. Since we can transform P continuously into P' in a generic way, it is enough to show the above equality when there is a single vertex v of \widehat{G}^{\Box} that lies inside the region bounded by P and P'. If v belongs to the interior of the disk then it has degree 3 in \widehat{G}^{\Box} , so $|\partial(P)| = |\partial(P')|$ but $|\widehat{E}_{-}^{\Box}(P)|$ and $|\widehat{E}_{-}^{\Box}(P')|$ have different parity. Similarly, if $v = d_j$ for some $j \in [2n]$ then it has degree 2 in \widehat{G}^{\Box} and thus $|\widehat{E}_{-}^{\Box}(P)| + |\partial(P)|$ and $|\widehat{E}_{-}^{\Box}(P')| + |\partial(P')|$ again have different parity. On the other hand, each perfect matching \mathcal{A} of \widehat{G}^{\Box} contains exactly one edge incident to v, and thus we also have $\operatorname{wt}_{-}(\mathcal{A}, P) = -\operatorname{wt}_{-}(\mathcal{A}, P')$. The result follows.

Observe that when P is a path in G, it necessarily intersects an even number of edges of \widehat{G}^{\Box} , and $\partial(P) = \emptyset$. Suppose now that P connects b_i to b_j . Consider another generic

path P' which connects b_i to b_j but only intersects two edges of \widehat{G}^{\Box} , namely, $\{d_{2i-1}, d_{2i}\}$ and $\{d_{2j-1}, d_{2j}\}$. By Lemma 6.10, we have $\sum_{\mathcal{A} \in \text{Match}(\widehat{G}^{\Box})} \text{wt}_{-}(\mathcal{A}, P) = \sum_{\mathcal{A} \in \text{Match}(\widehat{G}^{\Box})} \text{wt}_{-}(\mathcal{A}, P')$, and thus it suffices to show (6.4) for P replaced with P'.

For simplicity, we denote $a := d_{2i-1}$, $b := d_{2i}$, $c := d_{2j-1}$, $d := d_{2j}$. Define $\widehat{G}_{i,j}^{\Box}$ to be the subgraph obtained from \widehat{G}^{\Box} by removing the edges $\{a, b\}$ and $\{c, d\}$. Given a set $S \subset \{a, b, c, d\}$, denote by $\widehat{G}_{i,j}^{\Box}(S)$ the graph obtained from $\widehat{G}_{i,j}^{\Box}$ by removing the vertices of $\{a, b, c, d\} \setminus S$ (each such vertex is removed together with the unique edge incident to it). Finally, define

$$\kappa_S := \sum_{\mathcal{A} \in \operatorname{Match}(\widehat{G}_{i,j}^{\square}(S))} \operatorname{wt}(\mathcal{A})$$

for each $S \subset \{a, b, c, d\}$. Thus we have $\kappa_S = \kappa_{\{a, b, c, d\}\setminus S}$ for all S by Proposition 5.14. After replacing P with P', (6.4) becomes

(6.5)
$$(\kappa_{a,d} + \kappa_{b,c})^2 = (\kappa_{a,b,c,d} - \kappa_{a,b} - \kappa_{c,d} + \kappa_{\emptyset}) (\kappa_{a,b,c,d} + \kappa_{a,b} + \kappa_{c,d} + \kappa_{\emptyset})$$

where we denote $\kappa_{\{a,d\}} = \kappa_{a,d}$, etc. Since $\kappa_{a,d} = \kappa_{b,c}$, the left hand side equals $4\kappa_{a,d}^2 = 4\kappa_{a,d}\kappa_{b,c}$. Similarly, the right hand side equals $4(\kappa_{\emptyset} - \kappa_{a,b})(\kappa_{\emptyset} + \kappa_{a,b}) = 4(\kappa_{\emptyset}^2 - \kappa_{a,b}^2) = 4(\kappa_{a,b,c,d}\kappa_{\emptyset} - \kappa_{a,b}\kappa_{c,d})$. Thus we need to show $\kappa_{a,d}\kappa_{b,c} = \kappa_{a,b,c,d}\kappa_{\emptyset} - \kappa_{a,b}\kappa_{c,d}$, or equivalently,

(6.6)
$$\kappa_{a,d}\kappa_{b,c} + \kappa_{a,b}\kappa_{c,d} = \kappa_{a,b,c,d}\kappa_{\emptyset}.$$

This is easy to prove bijectively using standard double-dimer arguments. For instance, superimposing a pair of matchings $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}') \in \operatorname{Match}(\widehat{G}_{i,j}^{\Box}(\{a,d\})) \times \operatorname{Match}(\widehat{G}_{i,j}^{\Box}(\{b,c\}))$ gives a union of cycles in $\widehat{G}_{i,j}^{\Box}$ together with a path Q connecting a to d and a path R connecting b to c. Thus $\mathcal{A} \oplus R$ (the symmetric difference of sets of edges) is a perfect matching of $\widehat{G}_{i,j}^{\Box}(\{a,b,c,d\})$, while $\mathcal{A}' \oplus R$ is a perfect matching of $\widehat{G}_{i,j}^{\Box}(\emptyset)$. The case $(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}') \in$ $\operatorname{Match}(\widehat{G}_{i,j}^{\Box}(\{a,b\})) \times \operatorname{Match}(\widehat{G}_{i,j}^{\Box}(\{c,d\}))$ is completely similar, and together they give a bijection between the left and the right hand sides of (6.6). We are done with the first proof of Theorem 6.5.

6.2. Random alternating flows of Lis. For our second proof, we use a formula due to Lis [Lis17], which he proved using the *random currents model* of [GHS70], see also [DC16, LW16]. Let us say that a *clockwise bidirected edge* (resp., a *counterclockwise bidirected edge*) is a directed cycle of length two in the plane which is oriented clockwise (resp., counterclockwise).

Suppose we are given a planar Ising network N = (G, J) with n boundary vertices and two disjoint subsets $A, B \subset [n]$ of the same size. We define $G^{A \sqcup B} = (V^{A \sqcup B}, E^{A \sqcup B})$ to be the graph obtained from G by adding a boundary spike at b_i for all $i \in A \sqcup B$.

An (A, B)-alternating flow F on G is a graph obtained from $G^{A \sqcup B}$ by replacing each edge $\{u, v\} \in E^{A \sqcup B}$ of $G^{A \sqcup B}$ by either

(a) an undirected edge, or

(b) a directed edge $u \to v$ or $v \to u$, or

(c) a clockwise or a counterclockwise bidirected edge,

so that the vertex b_i is incident to an outgoing (resp., incoming) edge if $i \in A$ (resp., if $i \in B$), and so that every other vertex $v \in V$ of G is incident to an even number of directed edges of F, and their directions alternate around v. The set of all (A, B)-alternating flows on G is denoted $\mathcal{F}_{A,B}(G)$.

For $e \in E$, we put

$$x_e := \tanh(J_e) = \frac{\exp(J_e) - \exp(-J_e)}{\exp(J_e) + \exp(-J_e)}, \quad y_e := \operatorname{sech}(J_e) = \frac{2}{\exp(J_e) + \exp(-J_e)}$$

(Recall that x_e and y_e are not the same as $c_e = \tanh(2J_e)$ and $s_e = \operatorname{sech}(2J_e)$.) Given an edge $e \in E^{A \sqcup B}$ and an (A, B)-alternating flow $F \in \mathcal{F}_{A,B}(G)$, we set

$$\mathbf{w}(F,e) = \begin{cases} 2x_e/y_e^2, & \text{if } e \text{ is a directed edge in } F;\\ 2x_e^2/y_e^2, & \text{if } e \text{ is a bidirected edge in } F;\\ 1, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Following [Lis17, Eq. (4.2)], the weight of an (A, B)-alternating flow F is given by

(6.7)
$$\mathbf{w}(F) := 2^{|A| - |V(F)|} \prod_{e \in E^{A \sqcup B}} \mathbf{w}(F, e)$$

where V(F) denotes the set of vertices $v \in V^{A \sqcup B} \setminus \{b_i \mid i \in A \sqcup B\}$ incident to a directed or a bidirected edge in F (note that b_i is always incident to a directed edge in F when $i \in A \sqcup B$).

Remark 6.11. The equivalence of (6.7) and [Lis17, Eq. (4.2)] is explained in the proof of [Lis17, Lemma 4.2].

We will be interested in the two special cases $A = B = \emptyset$ and $A = \{a\}$, $B = \{b\}$ for $a \neq b \in [n]$. We denote the corresponding graphs by G^{\emptyset} and $G^{a,b}$, respectively. Denote also $\mathcal{F}_{\emptyset}(G) := \mathcal{F}_{\emptyset,\emptyset}(G)$ and $\mathcal{F}_{a,b}(G) := \mathcal{F}_{\{a\},\{b\}}(G)$.

Lemma 6.12 ([Lis17, Lemma 5.2]). Let N = (G, J) be a planar Ising network with n boundary vertices, and let $i \neq j \in [n]$. Then the boundary correlation $\langle \sigma_i \sigma_j \rangle$ equals

(6.8)
$$\langle \sigma_i \sigma_j \rangle = \frac{\sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_{a,b}(G)} \mathbf{w}(F)}{\sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_{\emptyset}(G)} \mathbf{w}(F)}.$$

Second proof of Theorem 6.5. For a flow $F \in \mathcal{F}_{A,B}(G)$, let U(F) denote the set of vertices $v \in V^{A \sqcup B}$ that are not incident to a directed or a bidirected edge of F. Thus |U(F)| = |V| - |V(F)|, and we set

$$\tilde{\mathbf{w}}(F) := 2^{|V|} \mathbf{w}(F) = 2^{|A| + |U(F)|} \prod_{e \in E^{A \sqcup B}} \mathbf{w}(F, e)$$

Suppose that we are given a flow $F \in \mathcal{F}_{A,B}(G)$ together with a map $\alpha : U(F) \to \{-1, 1\}$. We say that the pair (F, α) is a *spinned flow*. The weight of a spinned flow is defined to be $\tilde{w}(F, \alpha) = 2^{|A|} \prod_{e \in E^{A \sqcup B}} w(F, e)$, so that $\tilde{w}(F) = \sum_{\alpha \in \{-1,1\}^{U(F)}} \tilde{w}(F, \alpha)$. We then define an order relation \leq on spinned flows by writing $(F, \alpha) \leq (F', \alpha')$ if all of the following conditions are satisfied:

- F' is obtained from F by making some undirected edges bidirected (thus $U(F') \subset U(F)$),
- the restriction of α to U(F') equals α' , and
- for every vertex $v \in U(F) \setminus U(F')$ such that $\alpha(v) = 1$ (resp., $\alpha(v) = -1$), all bidirected edges of F' incident to v are clockwise (resp., counterclockwise) bidirected edges.



FIGURE 8. The correspondence θ between almost perfect matchings of G^{\Box} (top) and minimal spinned flows (bottom), where + (resp., -) next to a vertex v denotes $\alpha(v, e) = 1$ (resp., $\alpha(v, e) = -1$).

Even though α' can be obtained from α by restricting it to $U(F') \subset U(F)$, we can also reconstruct α from (F', α') , since every vertex $v \in U(F) \setminus U(F')$ is incident to at least one bidirected edge of F', and either all such edges are clockwise (in which case we must have $\alpha(v) = 1$) or counterclockwise (in which case we must have $\alpha(v) = -1$).

Given a spinned flow (F, α) , we say that an undirected edge e of F is *active* if there exists a spinned flow $(F', \alpha') > (F, \alpha)$ such that e is bidirected in F'. Thus any $(F', \alpha') > (F, \alpha)$ is obtained from (F, α) by making some active edges bidirected. (An active edge can become either a clockwise or a counterclockwise bidirected edge but not both.) Equivalently, for every undirected edge e of F and a vertex v incident to e, we set $\alpha(v, e) := \alpha(v)$ if $v \in U(F)$, and $\alpha(v, e) := 1$ (resp., $\alpha(v, e) := -1$) if $v \in V \setminus U(F)$ and after replacing e by a clockwise (resp., counterclockwise) bidirected edge, the directions of edges still alternate around v. Then an undirected edge $e = \{u, v\}$ of F is active if and only if we have $\alpha(v, e) = \alpha(u, e)$.

We say that a spinned flow (F, α) is *minimal* if it is minimal with respect to our order relation \leq . Equivalently, (F, α) is minimal if F has no bidirected edges. We denote $\mathcal{F}_{A,B}^{\min}(G)$ the set of all minimal spinned flows (F, α) where $F \in \mathcal{F}_{A,B}(G)$. For $(F, \alpha) \in \mathcal{F}_{A,B}^{\min}(G)$, we define its weight

$$\bar{\mathbf{w}}(F,\alpha) := \sum_{(F',\alpha') \ge (F,\alpha)} \tilde{\mathbf{w}}(F',\alpha') = 2^{|A|} \prod_{e \in E^{A \sqcup B}} \bar{\mathbf{w}}(F,\alpha,e),$$

where

(6.9)
$$\bar{\mathbf{w}}(F,\alpha,e) = \begin{cases} 2x_e/y_e^2, & \text{if } e \text{ is a directed edge in } F;\\ 1+2x_e^2/y_e^2 = (1+x_e^2)/y_e^2, & \text{if } e \text{ is an active edge of } (F,\alpha);\\ 1, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Here we used the fact that $x_e^2 + y_e^2 = 1$.

It thus follows that

$$\sum_{F \in \mathcal{F}_{A,B}(G)} \tilde{w}(F) = \sum_{(F,\alpha) \in \mathcal{F}_{A,B}^{\min}(G)} \bar{w}(F,\alpha).$$

Our goal is to give a map θ from almost perfect matchings of G^{\Box} to minimal spinned flows, which locally is defined in Figure 8. Namely, each edge $e = \{u, v\}$ of G corresponds to four interior vertices of G^{\Box} , as in Figure 2. Every almost perfect matching \mathcal{A} of G^{\Box} assigns a single edge to each of those four vertices, and there are seven ways to do so, as in Figure 8 (top). The product of the weights of edges of \mathcal{A} incident to one of the four vertices of G^{\Box} equals, respectively, to $c_e, c_e, s_e, s_e, 1, s_e^2, c_e^2$, see Figure 8 (top). Similarly, for every minimal spinned flow (F, α) , e may be directed from u to v, or directed from v to u, or undirected, in which case the functions $\alpha(u, e), \alpha(v, e) \in \{-1, 1\}$ are well defined. As shown in Figure 8, the two matchings of weight c_e correspond to the case where e is directed in F, and the remaining five matchings correspond to e being undirected in F. Specifically, the two matchings of weight s_e correspond to the two cases where $\alpha(u, e) \neq \alpha(v, e)$, the matching of weight 1 corresponds to the case $\alpha(u, e) = \alpha(v, e) = 1$, and the two matchings of weights s_e^2, c_e^2 correspond to a single case $\alpha(u, e) = \alpha(v, e) = -1$.

It is straightforward to check that these rules give a well defined map θ from the set of almost perfect matchings of G^{\Box} to the set of minimal spinned flows on G. Moreover, it is easy to check that the set $J := \partial(\mathcal{A}) \subset [2n]$ determines uniquely two disjoint sets $A, B \subset [n]$ such that $\theta(\mathcal{A}) \in \mathcal{F}_{A,B}^{\min}(G)$. Namely, we have $A = \{i \in [n] \mid 2i - 1, 2i \notin J\}$ and $B = \{i \in [n] \mid 2i - 1, 2i \in J\}$. Finally, let $(F, \alpha) \in \mathcal{F}_{A,B}^{\min}(G)$ be a minimal spinned flow, then we claim that

(6.10)
$$\bar{\mathbf{w}}(F,\alpha) = \frac{1}{\prod_{e \in E} s_e} \sum_{\mathcal{A}: \theta(\mathcal{A}) = (F,\alpha)} \mathbf{wt}(\mathcal{A}),$$

where the sum is over almost perfect matchings \mathcal{A} of G^{\Box} . To see why this is the case, note that the multiplicative contribution of an edge $e \in E$ to $\bar{w}(F, \alpha)$ is given by (6.9). On the other hand, it is clear from Figure 8 that for any two almost perfect matchings $\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{A}'$ such that $\theta(\mathcal{A}) = \theta(\mathcal{A}')$, we have $S^{\times}(\mathcal{A}) = S^{\times}(\mathcal{A}')$, where $S^{\times}(\mathcal{A})$ is defined in the proof of Proposition 5.14. Thus the total weight of almost perfect matchings in the preimage of (F, α) under θ equals to the product over all edges $e \in E$ of q(e), defined in the proof of Proposition 5.14 as

(6.11)
$$q(e) = \begin{cases} c_e, & \text{if } e \text{ is a directed edge in } F; \\ 1 = s_e^2 + c_e^2, & \text{if } e \text{ is an active edge of } (F, \alpha); \\ s_e, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Indeed, if $e = \{u, v\}$ is an active edge of (F, α) then we either have $\alpha(u, e) = \alpha(v, e) = 1$ in which case *e* corresponds locally to a single matching of weight 1, or we have $\alpha(u, e) = \alpha(v, e) = -1$ in which case *e* corresponds locally to two matchings of weights s_e^2 and c_e^2 , which can be interchanged in every almost perfect matching in the preimage of (F, α) under θ . It remains to note that the right of (6.11) can be obtained from the right hand side of (6.9) by multiplying by s_e :

$$s_e \bar{\mathbf{w}}(F, \alpha, e) = \begin{cases} 2x_e s_e / y_e^2 = c_e, & \text{if } e \text{ is a directed edge in } F;\\ (1 + x_e^2) s_e / y_e^2 = 1, & \text{if } e \text{ is an active edge of } (F, \alpha);\\ s_e, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Thus $s_e \bar{w}(F, \alpha, e) = q(e)$, which proves (6.10). This implies that the right hand sides of (6.8) and (6.2) are equal, finishing the second proof of Theorem 6.5.

7. Cyclic symmetry and a homeomorphism with a ball

By Theorems 6.5 and 5.17, the map ϕ is a stratification-preserving homeomorphism from $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_n$ to $OG_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$, which is the first part of Theorem 2.3. In this section, we follow the strategy of [GKL17] to prove the second part of Theorem 2.3, which states that $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_n$ is homeomorphic to a closed ball of dimension $\binom{n}{2}$.

Recall that the cyclic shift $2n \times 2n$ matrix S was defined in Section 3.2. We let S^T denote the matrix transpose of S. We recall the following result from [GKL17].

Lemma 7.1 ([GKL17, Corollary 3.8]). For all $X \in \operatorname{Gr}_{\geq 0}(k, N)$ and all t > 0, we have $X \cdot \exp(t(S + S^T)) \in \operatorname{Gr}_{>0}(k, N)$.

Recall that the totally positive Grassmannian $\operatorname{Gr}_{>0}(k, N)$ is defined in (4.1). Let us define the *totally positive orthogonal Grassmannian* to be the intersection

$$OG_{>0}(n, 2n) := Gr_{>0}(n, 2n) \cap OG(n, 2n).$$

Lemma 7.2. For all $X \in OG_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$ and all t > 0, we have $X \cdot \exp(t(S + S^T)) \in OG_{>0}(n, 2n)$.

Proof. In view of Lemma 7.1, it suffices to show that $X \cdot \exp(t(S + S^T)) \in OG(n, 2n)$. By Proposition 5.1, it is enough to prove that $\exp(t(S + S^T))$ belongs to the Lie group O(n, n) consisting of all $2n \times 2n$ matrices g preserving the bilinear form η , i.e., satisfying $\eta(gu, gv) = \eta(u, v)$ for all $u, v \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}$. It is a standard fact from Lie theory that $\exp(t(S + S^T))$ is such a matrix if and only if $S + S^T$ belongs to the Lie algebra of O(n, n). Let $D := \operatorname{diag}(1, -1, 1, -1, \ldots, 1, -1)$ be a $2n \times 2n$ diagonal matrix with $D_{i,i} = (-1)^{i-1}$ for $1 \leq i \leq 2n$. Then the Lie algebra of O(n, n) consists of all $2n \times 2n$ matrices B such that $B \cdot D = -D \cdot B^T$. It is easy to check that $S + S^T$ belongs to this Lie algebra. We are done with the proof. □

Example 7.3. For n = 2, the computation we need to check that $S + S^T$ belongs to the Lie algebra of O(n, n) goes as follows.

$$(S+S^{T}) \cdot D = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 0 & -1 \\ -1 & 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix};$$
$$D \cdot (S+S^{T})^{T} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & -1 \\ -1 & 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix};$$

here, $(S+S^{T})$, $D = -D$, $(S+S^{T})^{T}$ for $n=2$.

This shows $(S + S^T) \cdot D = -D \cdot (S + S^T)^T$ for n = 2.

Remark 7.4. For all $X \in \operatorname{Gr}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$, it was shown in [GKL17] that the limit of $X \cdot \exp(t(S + S^T))$ as $t \to \infty$ is the unique cyclically symmetric element $X_0 \in \operatorname{Gr}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$ from Proposition 3.5. It follows from Lemma 7.2 that this point X_0 belongs to $\operatorname{OG}_{>0}(n, 2n)$.

Proof of Theorem 2.3. As we have already discussed, the first part is a direct consequence of Theorems 6.5 and 5.17. The second part follows from Lemma 7.2 together with an argument completely identical to the one in [GKL17], which we briefly outline here. We refer the interested reader to [GKL17] for more details.

Definition 7.5 ([GKL17, Definition 2.1]). A map $f : \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N$ is called a *contractive flow* if the following conditions hold for f:

- (1) the map f is continuous;
- (2) for all $p \in \mathbb{R}^N$ and $t_1, t_2 \in \mathbb{R}$, we have f(0, p) = p and $f(t_1 + t_2, p) = f(t_1, f(t_2, p));$
- (3) for all $p \neq 0$ and t > 0, we have ||f(t, p)|| < ||p||.

Here $\|\cdot\|$ denotes the Euclidean norm on \mathbb{R}^N . A useful feature of having a contractive flow is the following result.

Lemma 7.6 ([GKL17, Lemma 2.3]). Let $Q \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ be a smooth embedded submanifold of dimension $d \leq N$, and $f : \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}^N$ a contractive flow. Suppose that Q is bounded and satisfies the condition

(7.1)
$$f(t,Q) \subset Q \quad for \ t > 0.$$

Then the closure \overline{Q} is homeomorphic to a closed ball of dimension d.

It was shown in the proof of [GKL17, Theorem 1.1] that the space $\operatorname{Gr}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$ can be explicitly realized as a subset of \mathbb{R}^N so that the image of $\operatorname{Gr}_{>0}(n, 2n)$ would be an embedded submanifold of \mathbb{R}^N , and that the action of $\exp(t(S + S^T))$ on $\operatorname{Gr}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$ extends to a contractive flow on \mathbb{R}^N . Since $\operatorname{OG}(n, 2n)$ is an embedded submanifold of $\operatorname{Gr}(n, 2n)$, we see that $Q := \operatorname{OG}_{>0}(n, 2n)$ becomes an embedded submanifold of \mathbb{R}^N whose closure is $\overline{Q} := \operatorname{OG}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$ in \mathbb{R}^N . By Lemma 7.2, the contractive flow $\exp(t(S + S^T))$ restricts to $\operatorname{OG}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$ and satisfies (7.1). The result follows. \Box

Theorem 2.3 establishes the correspondence between the planar Ising model and the totally nonnegative orthogonal Grassmannian. Having finished its proof, we are in a position to deduce several other results stated in Section 3.

Proof of Theorem 3.4. This follows easily from studying the relationship of the map

$$(G, J) \mapsto (G^{\square}, \mathrm{wt}) \mapsto \overline{\mathrm{Meas}}(G^{\square}, \mathrm{wt}) \in \mathrm{OG}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$$

with the duality map $(G, J) \mapsto (G^*, J^*)$. Namely, a planar Ising network N = (G, J)corresponds to a weighted plabic graph (G^{\Box}, wt) then the dual planar Ising network $N^* = (G^*, J^*)$ corresponds to a weighted plabic graph $((G^*)^{\Box}, \text{wt}^*)$ so that $(G^*)^{\Box}$ is obtained from G^{\Box} by switching the colors of all vertices and cyclically relabeling boundary vertices (i.e., $d_i^* := d_{i+1}$), and wt* is obtained from wt by swapping s_e and c_e for all $e \in E$. More precisely, for each $e \in E$ we have $\sinh(2J_e) \sinh(2J_{e^*}^*) = 1$ by (3.4). On the other hand, by (3.6), we have $\sinh(2J_e) = \frac{c_e}{s_e}$ and $\sinh(2J_{e^*}) = \frac{c_{e^*}}{s_{e^*}}$, so $s_{e^*} = c_e$ and $c_{e^*} = s_e$. It thus follows from the definition of Meas given in (4.2) that the minor Δ_I of Meas (G^{\Box}, wt) equals the minor $\Delta_{I'}$ of Meas $((G^*)^{\Box}, \text{wt}^*)$ where $I' = \{i+1 \mid i \in I\}$ (modulo 2n) for all $I \in {[2n] \choose n}$. This is equivalent to having Meas $(G^{\Box}, \text{wt}) \cdot S = Meas((G^*)^{\Box}, \text{wt}^*)$, which finishes the proof.

Proof of Proposition 3.6. We know by Proposition 3.5 that there exists a unique cyclically symmetric element $X_0 \in \operatorname{Gr}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$, and by Remark 7.4, we have $X_0 \in \operatorname{OG}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$. By Theorem 2.3, X_0 corresponds to a unique boundary correlation matrix $M_0 \in \overline{\mathcal{X}}$ of a planar Ising network (i.e., $\phi(M_0) = X_0$). Since the operation $N = (G, J) \mapsto N^* = (G^*, J^*)$ amounts to applying the cyclic shift on $\operatorname{OG}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$ by Theorem 3.4, we see that $M_0 = M(G, J)$ if and only if $M(G^*, J^*) = M(G, J)$.

Proof of Theorem 3.9. This also follows easily from Theorem 2.3 combined with (4.2).

Proof of Theorem 3.18. Follows from Theorem 2.3 and part (i) of Theorem 5.17. \Box

Proof of Theorem 3.21. Follows from Theorems 4.8 and 2.3.

Proof of Theorem 3.23. Indeed, adjoining a boundary spike e to G' amounts to adding a pair of bridges to $(G')^{\Box}$. Adding bridges to $(G')^{\Box}$ translates into acting by $x_{\tilde{k}}(s_e)$ and $y_{\tilde{k}+1}(s_e)$ on $\overline{\text{Meas}}((G')^{\Box}, \text{wt'})$ by Lemma 4.9. However, we also rescale the edges incident to \tilde{k} and $\tilde{k} + 1$ by c_e between adding the two bridges, which amounts to multiplying $\overline{\text{Meas}}((G')^{\Box}, \text{wt})$ by a diagonal matrix $D_{\tilde{k}}(c_e)$ whose (\tilde{k}, \tilde{k}) -th and $(\tilde{k} + 1, \tilde{k} + 1)$ -th entries are equal to c_e and $1/c_e$, respectively. Thus if N = (G, J) is obtained from N' = (G', J') by adjoining a boundary spike, then the matrices M = M(G, J) and M' = M(G', J') are related by

 $\phi(M) = \overline{\text{Meas}}(G^{\Box}, \text{wt}) = \overline{\text{Meas}}((G')^{\Box}, \text{wt}') \cdot x_{\tilde{k}}(s_e) \cdot D_{\tilde{k}}(c_e) \cdot y_{\tilde{k}+1}(s_e) = \overline{\text{Meas}}((G')^{\Box}, \text{wt}') \cdot g_{\tilde{k}}(t),$ which is equal to $\phi(M') \cdot g_{\tilde{k}}(t)$. Here $x_{\tilde{k}}(s_e) \cdot D_{\tilde{k}}(c_e) \cdot y_{\tilde{k}+1}(s_e) = g_{\tilde{k}}(t)$ reduces to the following 2×2 matrix computation, which relies on $s_e^2 + c_e^2 = 1$:

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & s_e \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} c_e & 0 \\ 0 & 1/c_e \end{pmatrix} \cdot \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ s_e & 1 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1/c_e & s_e/c_e \\ s_e/c_e & 1/c_e \end{pmatrix} \cdot$$

We are done with the proof.

Proof of Proposition 6.4. It follows from Theorem 6.5 that ϕ sends \mathcal{X}_{τ} homeomorphically onto the cell $\Pi_{\tau}^{>0} \cap \operatorname{OG}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$, and thus the result follows from Theorem 2.3 combined with Theorem 5.17 (ii).

8. Generalized Griffiths' inequalities

In this section, our goal is to prove Theorem 3.14. Note that (3.11) follows from (3.12) by taking disjoint A and B such that |B| = 1. We thus focus on proving (3.12). Let us fix two subsets $A, B \subset [n]$, and let $C := A \oplus B$ be their symmetric difference. If C has odd size then both sides of (3.12) become zero. Thus we assume that the size of C is even. Recall that $\mathcal{E}_n(C) \subset {\binom{[2n]}{n}}$ consists of all *n*-element subsets I of [2n] such that $I \cap \{2i - 1, 2i\}$ has even size if and only if $i \in C$. (In particular, $\mathcal{E}_n(C)$ is empty when C has odd size.)

Throughout, we also fix a matrix $M = (m_{i,j}) \in \operatorname{Mat}_n^{\operatorname{sym}}(\mathbb{R}, 1)$, and we treat the entries $m_{i,j} = m_{j,i}$ as indeterminates for $i \neq j$.

Our first goal is to give a formula for the minors $\Delta_I(\widetilde{M})$ for $I \in \mathcal{E}_n(C)$.

Definition 8.1. Denote n' := n - |C|/2. Let $\alpha : [2n] \to [2n']$ be the unique order-preserving map such that $\alpha(2i-1) = \alpha(2i)$ if and only if $i \in C$. Let $\beta : [2n'] \to [n]$ be the unique order-preserving map such that the composition $\beta \circ \alpha : [2n] \to [n]$ sends both 2i - 1 and 2i to i for all $i \in [n]$.

Example 8.2. Suppose that n = 4 and $C = \{1,3\}$. Then n' = 3, and the map $\alpha : [8] \rightarrow [6]$ sends the top row entries of the 2-line array $\begin{vmatrix} 1 & 2 & 3 \\ 1 & 1 & 2 \end{vmatrix} \begin{vmatrix} 3 & 4 & 5 & 6 \\ 3 & 4 & 4 & 5 \end{vmatrix}$ to the corresponding bottom row entries (i.e., $\alpha(1) = \alpha(2) = 1, \alpha(3) = 2$, etc.). Similarly, $\beta : [6] \rightarrow [4]$ sends the top row entries of $\begin{vmatrix} 1 & 2 & 3 & 4 \\ 1 & 2 & 2 & 3 \end{vmatrix}$ to its bottom row entries, giving rise to a composite map $\beta \circ \alpha$ represented by a 3-line array $\begin{vmatrix} 1 & 2 & 3 & 4 \\ 1 & 1 & 2 & 3 \end{vmatrix} \begin{vmatrix} 1 & 2 & 3 & 4 & 5 & 6 \\ 1 & 1 & 2 & 2 & 3 & 4 & 4 \end{vmatrix}$

For disjoint subsets $I, J \subset [2N]$ of the same size, we say that π is a matching between Iand J if π contains |I| = |J| pairs, and for each pair $\{i, j\} \in \pi$, we have either $i \in I, j \in J$ or $i \in J, j \in I$. The set of matchings between I and J is denoted by Match(I, J). For a subset $K \subset [2N]$ of even size, a matching on K is a partition of K into |K|/2 disjoint subsets of size

2, and we let Match(K) denote the set of matchings on K. Thus $Match(I, J) \subset Match(I \sqcup J)$, and Match([2n]) is as a set equal to P_n . The function xing naturally extends to Match(I, J)and Match(K).

For each $I \in \mathcal{E}_n(C)$, we denote $I' := \alpha(I)$, and it is easy to check that we have $I' \in \binom{[2n']}{n'}$ for $I \in \mathcal{E}_n(C)$. Given a matching π on [2n'], we define a monomial $m_{\beta,\pi} := \prod_{\{i,j\}\in\pi} m_{\beta(i),\beta(j)}$. Similarly, given a subset $K \subset [n]$ of even size and a matching $\pi \in \text{Match}(K)$, we set $m_{\pi} := \prod_{\{i,j\}\in\pi} m_{i,j}$.

Proposition 8.3. For $I \in \mathcal{E}_n(C)$, we have

$$\Delta_I(\widetilde{M}) = 2^{|C|/2} \sum_{\pi \in \operatorname{Match}(I', [2n'] \setminus I')} (-1)^{\operatorname{xing}(\pi)} m_{\beta, \pi}$$

Proof. This is essentially [Pos07, Proposition 5.2], see also [Lis17, Eq. (2.2)].

Remark 8.4. For any $I \in {\binom{[2n]}{n}}$, there exists a unique $C \subset [n]$ such that $I \in \mathcal{E}_n(C)$. Thus Proposition 8.3 actually gives a formula for all maximal minors of \widetilde{M} in terms of the entries of M.

Example 8.5. Let n = 4 and $C = \{1,3\}$ as in Example 8.2, so n' = 3. The matrices M and \widetilde{M} are given in Figure 1. Let $I := \{1, 2, 4, 7\}$. We have $I \in \mathcal{E}_n(C)$ since $|I \cap \{1, 2\}| = 2$ and $|I \cap \{5, 6\}| = 0$ are both even, while $|I \cap \{3, 4\}| = |I \cap \{7, 8\}| = 1$ are both odd. Next, $I' = \alpha(I) = \{1, 3, 5\} \in \binom{[2n']}{n'}$. Computing the maximal minor $\Delta_I(\widetilde{M})$, we find

$$\Delta_I(\widetilde{M}) = 2(m_{14}m_{23}m_{24} - m_{13}m_{24}^2 + m_{12}m_{24}m_{34} + m_{12}m_{23} + m_{14}m_{34} + m_{13}).$$

These six terms correspond to the six elements of $Match(I', [2n'] \setminus I') = Match(\{1, 3, 5\}, \{2, 4, 6\})$. For instance, the term $-m_{13}m_{24}^2$ comes from the matching $\pi = \{\{1, 4\}, \{3, 6\}, \{5, 2\}\}$ with $xing(\pi) = 3$, while the term m_{13} comes from the matching $\pi = \{\{1, 4\}, \{3, 2\}, \{5, 6\}\}$ with $xing(\pi) = 0$.

Definition 8.6. We introduce two disjoint subsets $A', B' \subset [2n']$ by:

$$A' := \{ i \in [2n'] \mid \beta(i) \in A \setminus B \} \cup \{ i \in [2n'] \mid \beta(i) = \beta(i+1) \in A \cap B \}; \\ B' := \{ i \in [2n'] \mid \beta(i) \in B \setminus A \} \cup \{ i+1 \in [2n'] \mid \beta(i) = \beta(i+1) \in A \cap B \}$$

Define the number $\epsilon \in \{0, 1\}$ mentioned in Theorem 3.14 by

(8.1)
$$\epsilon \equiv 1 + \sum_{i \in B'} i \pmod{2}$$

Next, we state a classical result expressing correlations of the Ising model in terms of *Pfaffians*. Given a set $K \subset [n]$ of even size, we define

$$\operatorname{Pf}_{K}(M) := \sum_{\pi \in \operatorname{Match}(K)} (-1)^{\operatorname{xing}(\pi)} m_{\pi}.$$

If the size of K is odd, we set $Pf_K(M) := 0$. The following classical result expresses multipoint correlations in terms of two-point correlations.

Proposition 8.7 ([GBK78, Theorem A]). Given a planar Ising network N = (G, J), let M = M(G, J) be its boundary correlation matrix. Then for every set $K \subset [n]$, we have

$$\langle \sigma_K \rangle = \operatorname{Pf}_K(M) = \sum_{\pi \in \operatorname{Match}(K)} (-1)^{\operatorname{xing}(\pi)} \prod_{\{i,j\} \in \pi} \langle \sigma_i \sigma_j \rangle.$$

Thus Theorem 3.14 becomes a consequence of the following result.

Theorem 8.8. We have

(8.2)
$$\operatorname{Pf}_{C}(M) - \operatorname{Pf}_{A}(M) \operatorname{Pf}_{B}(M) = \frac{1}{2^{n-1}} \sum_{I \in \mathcal{E}_{n}(A \oplus B) \cap \mathcal{D}^{\epsilon}(B)} \Delta_{I}(\widetilde{M}).$$

Both sides of (8.2) are polynomials in the entries of M by Propositions 8.3 and 8.7.

Remark 8.9. It may look like the right hand side of (8.2) is not symmetric with respect to A and B, but in fact it is easy to see that

$$\mathcal{E}_n(A \oplus B) \cap \mathcal{D}^{\epsilon}(B) = \mathcal{E}_n(A \oplus B) \cap \mathcal{D}^{\epsilon'}(A),$$

where $\epsilon' \equiv 1 + n + \sum_{i \in A'} i \pmod{2}$.

Before we prove Theorem 8.8, we state a lemma which will be used repeatedly later.

Lemma 8.10. Let $[2N] = K_1 \sqcup K_2$ for two sets K_1, K_2 of even size. Let $\pi_1 \in Match(K_1)$, $\pi_2 \in Match(K_2)$, and let $\pi_1 \sqcup \pi_2 \in Match([2N])$ be obtained by superimposing π_1 and π_2 . Then

(8.3)
$$\operatorname{xing}(\pi_1 \sqcup \pi_2) - \operatorname{xing}(\pi_1) - \operatorname{xing}(\pi_2) \equiv |K_1|/2 + \sum_{i \in K_1} i \equiv |K_2|/2 + \sum_{i \in K_2} i \pmod{2}.$$

Proof. Suppose that there is $i \in K_1$ such that i > 1 and $i - 1 \notin K_1$. Then replacing K_1 with $K_1 \setminus \{i\} \cup \{i - 1\}$ and modifying π_1, π_2 accordingly changes the parity of each side of (8.3). Applying this operation repeatedly until $K_1 = [|K_1|]$, the result follows.

Proof of Theorem 8.8. First, it is straightforward to check that if $i \in [n] \setminus (A \cup B)$ then removing *i* from [n] does not affect the left and right hand sides of (8.2). Thus from now on we assume that $A \cup B = [n]$.

Assume first that $A \cap B = \emptyset$. This implies $C = A \sqcup B = [n]$, *n* is even, n' = n/2, A' = A, and B' = B. For a matching $\pi \in \text{Match}([n])$, we are going to compare the coefficients of m_{π} on both sides of (8.2), and show that in all cases they are equal.

Here for two disjoint subsets I and J, we say that a matching $\pi \in \text{Match}(I \sqcup J)$ restricts to I and J and write $\pi \in \text{Match}|_{I,J}^{\text{res}}$ if for all $\{i, j\} \in \pi$ we have either $\{i, j\} \subset I$ or $\{i, j\} \subset J$. We denote by $\pi|_I \in \text{Match}(I)$ and $\pi|_J \in \text{Match}(J)$ the corresponding restricted matchings. Thus the set $\text{Match}|_{I,J}^{\text{res}} \subset \text{Match}(I \sqcup J)$ is in bijection with $\text{Match}(I) \times \text{Match}(J)$.

For $\pi \in Match([n])$, the coefficient of m_{π} in $Pf_C(M) - Pf_A(M) Pf_B(M)$ is equal to

$$c_{\text{left}}(\pi) = \begin{cases} (-1)^{\text{xing}(\pi)} - (-1)^{\text{xing}(\pi|_A)} (-1)^{\text{xing}(\pi|_B)} & \text{if } \pi \in \text{Match} |_{A,B}^{\text{res}} \\ (-1)^{\text{xing}(\pi)} & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

For the right hand side of (8.2), observe that by Definition 3.13, a given set $I \in \mathcal{E}_n(C)$ belongs to $\mathcal{D}^{\epsilon}(B)$ if and only if

$$\sum_{i \in I \cap \widetilde{B}} i \equiv 1 + \sum_{i \in B} i \pmod{2},$$

because B = B'. Since C = [n], we have $I \in \mathcal{E}_n(C)$ if and only if $I \cap \{2i - 1, 2i\}$ has even size for all $i \in [n]$. Let us say that a set $I \in \mathcal{E}_n(C)$ is *compatible with* π if $\pi \in \text{Match}(I', [2n'] \setminus I')$. It is clear that the coefficient of m_{π} in the right hand side of (8.2) is equal to

$$c_{\text{right}}(\pi) := \frac{2^{n/2}}{2^{n-1}} (-1)^{\operatorname{xing}(\pi)} N(\pi),$$

;

where $N(\pi)$ is the number of $I \in \mathcal{E}_n(C) \cap \mathcal{D}^{\epsilon}(B)$ compatible with π . We claim that $N(\pi)$ is given by

(8.4)
$$N(\pi) = \begin{cases} 2^{n/2} & \text{if } \pi \in \text{Match} |_{A,B}^{\text{res}} \text{ and } |B|/2 \equiv 1 + \sum_{i \in B} i \pmod{2}; \\ 0 & \text{if } \pi \in \text{Match} |_{A,B}^{\text{res}} \text{ and } |B|/2 \not\equiv 1 + \sum_{i \in B} i \pmod{2}; \\ 2^{n/2-1} & \text{if } \pi \notin \text{Match} |_{A,B}^{\text{res}}. \end{cases}$$

Indeed, assume first $\pi \notin \text{Match}|_{A,B}^{\text{res}}$. Then there exists a pair $\{i, j\} \in \pi$ such that $i \in A$ and $j \in B$. Note that there are a total of $2^{n/2}$ sets $I \in \mathcal{E}_n(C)$ compatible with π . Each such set satisfies either $2i - 1, 2i \in I, 2j - 1, 2j \notin I$ or $2j - 1, 2j \in I, 2i - 1, 2i \notin I$, so they naturally split into pairs $\{I, I \oplus \{2i - 1, 2i, 2j - 1, 2j\}\}$. Exactly one set I in each pair satisfies $\sum_{i \in I \cap \tilde{B}} i \equiv \epsilon \pmod{2}$. Thus the total number $N(\pi)$ of sets $I \in \mathcal{E}_n(C) \cap \mathcal{D}^{\epsilon}(B)$ compatible with π equals $2^{n/2-1}$ in this case.

Assume now that $\pi \in \text{Match}|_{A,B}^{\text{res}}$. Then for any $I \in \mathcal{E}_n(C)$ compatible with π , we have $\sum_{i \in I \cap \tilde{B}} i \equiv |B|/2 \pmod{2}$. Thus, either all I compatible with π belong to $\mathcal{E}_n(C) \cap \mathcal{D}^{\epsilon}(B)$, in which case we get $2^{n/2}$ of them, or they all belong to $\mathcal{E}_n(C) \cap \mathcal{D}^{1-\epsilon}(B)$, in which case we get $N(\pi) = 0$. It is easy to check that the former case happens exactly when $|B|/2 \equiv 1 + \sum_{i \in B} i \pmod{2}$. This shows (8.4), which, combined with (8.3), clearly implies $c_{\text{left}}(\pi) = c_{\text{right}}(\pi)$. We are done with the case $A \cap B = \emptyset$.

Assume now that $A \cap B \neq \emptyset$. Since we are assuming $A \cup B = [n]$, we have $2n' = n + |A \cap B|$, and $[2n'] = A' \sqcup B'$.

For $k, k + 1 \in [2n']$ such that $\beta(k) = \beta(k + 1) = j$, let the *flipping* of a matching $\pi \in \text{Match}([2n'])$ at j be a matching π' obtained from π' by "swapping" the elements k, k+1, i.e., $\pi' = \pi \setminus \{\{a, k\}, \{b, k+1\}\} \cup \{\{a, k+1\}, \{b, k\}\}$ for some $a, b \in [2n']$. (If $\{k, k+1\} \in \pi$ then we set $\pi' := \pi$.)

Note that two different matchings $\pi, \pi' \in \text{Match}([2n'])$ can yield the same monomial $m_{\beta,\pi}$ if they differ by a flipping at some $j \in A \cap B$. We write in this case $\pi \sim \pi'$, and denote $\Pi = [\pi]$ the equivalence class of matchings $\pi \in \text{Match}([2n'])$ with respect to this equivalence relation. Thus we have $m_{\beta,\pi} = m_{\beta,\pi'}$ if and only if $\pi \sim \pi'$, and we denote $m_{\beta,[\pi]} = m_{\beta,\pi}$.

We say that π is trivial on $j \in A \cap B$, denoted $\pi \perp j$, if the pair $\{k, k+1\} = \beta^{-1}(j)$ belongs to π . We say that π is trivial on $A \cap B$, denoted $\pi \perp A \cap B$, if π is trivial on all elements of $A \cap B$. It is easy to see that triviality depends only on the equivalence class of π , justifying the notation $\Pi \perp j$ and $\Pi \perp A \cap B$. In the case $\Pi \perp A \cap B$, Π consists of just a single element π , so we define $\operatorname{xing}(\Pi) := \operatorname{xing}(\pi)$ in this case.

Let $\pi \in Match([2n'])$ be a matching. Consider a graph $\Gamma_{\pi} = ([2n'], E(\pi))$ with vertex set [2n'] and edge set

$$E(\pi) = \pi \cup \{\{k, k+1\} \mid k \in [2n'] \text{ is such that } \beta(k) = \beta(k+1)\} = \pi \cup \{\beta^{-1}(j) \mid j \in A \cap B\}.$$

(Here if π is trivial on j then the corresponding pair $\{k, k+1\} = \beta^{-1}(j)$ belongs to both π and $\{\beta^{-1}(j) \mid j \in A \cap B\}$, so Γ_{π} contains *two* edges connecting k to k+1.)

Each connected component of Γ_{π} contains an even number of vertices and is either a cycle or a path. We denote by $\operatorname{Conn}(\Gamma_{\pi})$ the set of connected components of Γ_{π} and by $\operatorname{Cyc}(\Gamma_{\pi}) \subset$ $\operatorname{Conn}(\Gamma_{\pi})$ the set of cycles of Γ_{π} . Clearly, flipping π at $j \in A \cap B$ preserves the set of vertices of each connected component of Γ_{π} . In particular, we have $\operatorname{cyc}(\pi) := |\operatorname{Cyc}(\pi)| = |\operatorname{Cyc}(\pi')|$ for all $\pi \sim \pi'$, and thus we set $\operatorname{cyc}([\pi]) := \operatorname{cyc}(\pi)$. For each equivalence class Π of matchings we are going to compare the coefficients of $m_{\beta,\Pi}$ on both sides of (8.2), and show that they are equal. (Recall that we have $m_{\beta,\pi} = m_{\beta,\pi'}$ if and only if $\pi \sim \pi'$, and in particular we have $m_{\beta,\Pi} \neq m_{\beta,\Pi'}$ for $\Pi \neq \Pi'$.)

The coefficient of $m_{\beta,\Pi}$ in the left hand side of (8.2) equals

$$c_{\text{left}}(\Pi) = \begin{cases} (-1)^{\text{xing}(\Pi)} & \text{if } \Pi \cap \text{Match} \mid_{A',B'}^{\text{res}} = \emptyset \text{ and } \Pi \perp A \cap B; \\ -(-1)^{\text{xing}(\pi|_{A'}) + \text{xing}(\pi|_{B'})} 2^{\text{cyc}(\Pi)} & \text{if } \pi \in \Pi \cap \text{Match} \mid_{A',B'}^{\text{res}} \text{ and } \Pi \not\perp A \cap B; \\ 0 & \text{if } \Pi \cap \text{Match} \mid_{A',B'}^{\text{res}} = \emptyset \text{ and } \Pi \not\perp A \cap B. \end{cases}$$

Note that the case $\Pi \cap \text{Match}|_{A',B'}^{\text{res}} \neq \emptyset$, $\Pi \perp A \cap B$ is impossible because $A \cap B \neq \emptyset$. For the second case $\pi \in \Pi \cap \text{Match}|_{A',B'}^{\text{res}}$, $\Pi \not\perp A \cap B$, the parity of $\operatorname{xing}(\pi|_{A'}) + \operatorname{xing}(\pi|_{B'})$ is uniquely determined, even if π itself may not be uniquely determined. Indeed, any two $\pi, \pi' \in \Pi \cap \text{Match}|_{A',B'}^{\text{res}}$ can be obtained from each other by flipping all $j \in S$ for some $S \subset A \cap B$ such that $\beta^{-1}(S)$ is a union of cycles of Γ_{π} (and thus a union of cycles of $\Gamma_{\pi'}$). Clearly in this case we have $\operatorname{xing}(\pi|_{A'}) + \operatorname{xing}(\pi|_{B'}) = \operatorname{xing}(\pi'|_{A'}) + \operatorname{xing}(\pi'|_{B'})$.

Recall that $I \in \mathcal{E}_n(C)$ is compatible with π if $\pi \in \operatorname{Match}(I', [2n'] \setminus I')$. In this case we also say that I' is compatible with π . Note that the map $I \mapsto I' = \alpha(I)$ is injective on $\mathcal{E}_n(C)$, and we denote by $\mathcal{E}'_n(C) := \{I' \mid I \in \mathcal{E}_n(C)\} \subset {\binom{[2n']}{n'}}$ the image of this map. Thus $I' \in \mathcal{E}'_n(C)$ if and only if |I'| = n' and $|I' \cap \{k, k+1\}| = 1$ for all $k \in [2n']$ such that $\beta(k) = \beta(k+1)$.

It is clear that the coefficient of $m_{\beta,\Pi}$ in the right hand side of (8.3) is equal to

$$c_{\text{right}}(\Pi) = \frac{2^{n-n'}}{2^{n-1}} \sum_{(\pi,J)} (-1)^{\text{xing}(\pi)},$$

where the sum is over all pairs (π, J) such that $\pi \in \Pi$ and $J \in \mathcal{E}_n(C)$ is compatible with π . We claim that this sum equals

$$\sum_{(\pi,J)} (-1)^{\operatorname{xing}(\pi)} = \begin{cases} (-1)^{\operatorname{xing}(\Pi)} 2^{n'-1} & \text{if } \Pi \cap \operatorname{Match} |_{A',B'}^{\operatorname{res}} = \emptyset \text{ and } \Pi \perp A \cap B; \\ -(-1)^{\operatorname{xing}(\pi|_{A'}) + \operatorname{xing}(\pi|_{B'})} 2^{n'-1 + \operatorname{cyc}(\Pi)} & \text{if } \pi \in \Pi \cap \operatorname{Match} |_{A',B'}^{\operatorname{res}} = \emptyset \text{ and } \Pi \not\perp A \cap B; \\ 0 & \text{if } \Pi \cap \operatorname{Match} |_{A',B'}^{\operatorname{res}} = \emptyset \text{ and } \Pi \not\perp A \cap B; \end{cases}$$

Consider the first case $\Pi \cap \text{Match}|_{A',B'}^{\text{res}} = \emptyset$, $\Pi \perp A \cap B$. Let π be the unique element of Π . Pick some $j \in A \cap B$, and let $\{k, k+1\} := \beta^{-1}(j)$. For each pair $\{i, i'\} \in \pi$ except for $\{k, k+1\}$, choose arbitrarily which of i and i' belongs to J' and which does not. There are total $2^{n'-1}$ ways to do this. For each of the $2^{n'-1}$ ways, the condition $\sum_{i \in J \cap \tilde{B}} i \equiv \epsilon$ (mod 2) uniquely determines whether k or k+1 must belong to J' in order for J to belong to $\mathcal{E}_n(C) \cap \mathcal{D}^{\epsilon}(B)$. We are done with the first case.

Consider now the third case $\Pi \cap \text{Match}|_{A',B'}^{\text{res}} = \emptyset$, $\Pi \not\perp A \cap B$. It follows that there is a pair $\{i, i'\}$ common to all $\pi \in \Pi$ such that $\beta(i) \in A \setminus B$ and $\beta(i') \in B \setminus A$. There is also a pair $\{k, k+1\} = \beta^{-1}(j)$ for some $j \in A \cap B$ such that k and k+1 are not connected to each other in any $\pi \in \Pi$. Consider a map $\gamma : \mathcal{E}_n(C) \cap \mathcal{D}^{\epsilon}(B) \to \mathcal{E}_n(C) \cap \mathcal{D}^{\epsilon}(B)$ defined as follows. We put $\gamma(I) = J$ for $I, J \in \mathcal{E}_n(C) \cap \mathcal{D}^{\epsilon}(B)$ if $J' = I' \oplus \{i, i', k, k+1\}$. Let π' be obtained from π by flipping at j. We claim that $I \in \mathcal{E}_n(C) \cap \mathcal{D}^{\epsilon}(B)$ is compatible with π if and only if $\gamma(I) \in \mathcal{E}_n(C) \cap \mathcal{D}^{\epsilon}(B)$ is compatible with π' . Moreover, $\operatorname{xing}(\pi')$ differs from $\operatorname{xing}(\pi)$ by 1. Thus, we have a sign-reversing involution that cancels all the terms in $\sum_{(\pi,J)} (-1)^{\operatorname{xing}(\pi)}$, proving that it is equal to 0 in the third case. Finally, consider the second case $\pi \in \Pi \cap \text{Match}|_{A',B'}^{\text{res}}$, $\Pi \not\perp A \cap B$. We are going to show that

$$\sum_{(\pi,J)} (-1)^{\operatorname{xing}(\pi)} = -(-1)^{\operatorname{xing}(\pi|_{A'}) + \operatorname{xing}(\pi|_{B'})} 2^{n' - 1 + \operatorname{cyc}(\Pi)}.$$

Fix a matching $\pi \in \Pi \cap \text{Match}|_{A',B'}^{\text{res}}$. We claim that for any $\pi' \in \Pi$, there exists $\epsilon_{\pi'} \in \{0,1\}$ such that for all $I \in \mathcal{E}_n(C)$ compatible with π' , we have $I \in \mathcal{D}^{\epsilon_{\pi'}}(B)$, that is,

$$\sum_{i \in I \cap \widetilde{B}} i \equiv \epsilon_{\pi'} \pmod{2}$$

Indeed, each component of $\Gamma_{\pi'}$ is a bipartite graph (a path or a cycle with an even number of vertices) so let us color its vertices black and white in a bipartite way. It is easy to check that $I \in \mathcal{E}_n(C)$ is compatible with π' if and only if for each connected component of $\Gamma_{\pi'}$, I'contains either all white vertices or all black vertices of this component. Let $S \subset [2n']$ be the set of vertices of a connected component of $\Gamma_{\pi'}$, and let $J \in \mathcal{E}_n(C)$ be such that $J' = I' \oplus S$ (thus J' is obtained from I' by switching from white to black inside the component S). It is straightforward to check that because π' is equivalent to $\pi \in \text{Match}|_{A',B'}^{\text{res}}$, we have

$$\sum_{i \in I \cap \widetilde{B}} i \equiv \sum_{i \in J \cap \widetilde{B}} i \pmod{2}.$$

We thus define $\epsilon_{\pi'} := \sum_{i \in I \cap \widetilde{B}} i$ for some $I \in \mathcal{E}_n(C)$ compatible with π' , and we have shown that $\epsilon_{\pi'}$ does not depend on the choice of I.

Next, flipping π' at some $j \in A \cap B$ changes $\epsilon_{\pi'}$ into $1 - \epsilon_{\pi'}$. Thus we have $\epsilon_{\pi'} = \epsilon$ for precisely half of the matchings $\pi' \in \Pi$, and for each such matching π' , there are $2^{|\operatorname{Conn}(\Gamma_{\pi'})|} = 2^{n'-|A\cap B|}$ sets $J \in \mathcal{E}_n(C)$ compatible with π' . Since $\Pi \cap \operatorname{Match}|_{A',B'}^{\operatorname{res}} \neq \emptyset$, we have $\Pi \not\perp j$ for each $j \in A \cap B$, and thus $|\Pi| = 2^{|A\cap B|}$. Therefore the total number of pairs (π', J) such that $\pi' \in \Pi$ and $J \in \mathcal{E}_n(C) \cap \mathcal{D}^{\epsilon}(B)$ equals $2^{n'-1}$, and for each of them, the parity of $\operatorname{xing}(\pi')$ is the same, because it satisfies

$$\epsilon_{\pi} - \epsilon \equiv \operatorname{xing}(\pi) - \operatorname{xing}(\pi').$$

Thus in order to finish the proof, it suffices to show that

(8.5)
$$\operatorname{xing}(\pi) - \operatorname{xing}(\pi|_{A'}) - \operatorname{xing}(\pi|_{B'}) \not\equiv \epsilon_{\pi} - \epsilon \pmod{2}.$$

Let $J \in \mathcal{E}_n(C)$ be compatible with π . Then by the definition of ϵ_{π} and ϵ , we have

$$\epsilon_{\pi} - \epsilon \equiv \sum_{i \in J \cap \widetilde{B}} i + \sum_{i \in B'} i + 1 \pmod{2}.$$

Combining this with Lemma 8.10, Equation (8.5) transforms into

$$|B'|/2 + \sum_{i \in B'} i \equiv \sum_{i \in J \cap \widetilde{B}} i + \sum_{i \in B'} i \pmod{2},$$

equivalently, $|B'|/2 \equiv \sum_{i \in J \cap \tilde{B}} i \pmod{2}$, which follows in a straightforward way since $\pi \in$ Match $|_{A',B'}^{\text{res}}$, J contains either all white or all black vertices in each connected component of Γ_{π} , and hence the contribution of each connected component to the left and right hand side is the same. We are done with the proof of Theorem 8.8, which implies Theorem 3.14 as discussed previously.

9. Open problems and future directions

In this section, we briefly list several questions that in our opinion would be worth exploring further.

According to (5.4), $OG_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$ is a union of cells labeled by matchings τ on [2n], and each such cell $\Pi_{\tau}^{>0} \cap OG_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$ is homeomorphic to $\mathbb{R}^{\operatorname{xing}(\tau)}$. It would be nice to understand the topology closures of these cells. In fact, we have a conjecture, analogous to [Pos07, Conjecture 3.6].

Conjecture 9.1. The cell decomposition (5.4) gives a regular CW complex structure on $OG_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$. In other words, the closure of each cell $\Pi_{\tau}^{>0} \cap OG_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$, given by (5.5), is homeomorphic to a closed xing(τ)-dimensional ball.

As we have already mentioned, the poset P_n of cells in $OG_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$ has been studied in the context of electrical networks. In particular, it has been shown to be shellable and Eulerian by [Lam15, HK18], which shows that P_n is the face poset of *some* regular CW complex by a result of [Bjö84]. This leads to our next question.

Question 9.2. Does there exist a natural stratification-preserving homeomorphism between the compactification E_n of the space of response matrices of planar electrical networks (as studied in [Lam14]) and the space $\overline{\mathcal{X}}_n$ of boundary correlation matrices of planar Ising networks?

Recall that both spaces have cell decompositions into cells indexed by matchings on [2n], and both spaces are homeomorphic to a closed $\binom{n}{2}$ -dimensional ball by Theorem 2.3 and [GKL17, Theorem 1.3]. Similarly to Conjecture 9.1, the space E_n is believed to be a regular CW complex with face poset P_n . There are many more surprising analogies between the two spaces:

- In both cases, a planar graph yields a point in the cell corresponding to its medial pairing.
- Two reduced planar graphs yield the same point if and only if they are connected by the corresponding $Y \Delta$ (or *star-triangle*) moves.⁴
- In both cases, there is an embedding of the space of boundary measurements into the totally nonnegative Grassmannian, as in Theorem 2.3 and [Lam14, Theorem 5.8].⁵
- The cyclic shift inside the corresponding Grassmannian amounts to the duality operation for Ising networks as in Section 3.2, and for electrical networks it corresponds to taking the dual graph and replacing each conductance by its reciprocal, as easily follows from the results of [Lam14, Section 5].
- Adding boundary spikes and boundary edges translates into adding pairs of bridges to the corresponding plabic graph, see Theorem 3.21 and [Lam14, Proposition 5.12].

Our next question is related to Remark 3.7.

⁴In fact, under our map $G \mapsto G^{\square}$, applying a $Y - \Delta$ move to G corresponds to applying the superurban renewal of [KP16] to G^{\square} .

⁵The corresponding decorated permutations differ by a "shift by 1", i.e., if $\pi : [n] \to [n]$ is a fixed-point free involution then Lam embeds the electrical response matrix into the cell $\Pi_{\pi'}^{>0}$ of $\operatorname{Gr}_{\geq 0}(n-1,2n)$, where $\pi'(i) := \pi(i) - 1$ modulo *n* for all $i \in [n]$. An analogous construction in the context of the *amplituhedron* of [AHT14] is related to going from the *momentum space* to the *momentum-twistor space*, where one performs a "shift by 2". It remains an open problem to define the amplituhedron and related objects in the context of ABJM amplitudes. We thank Thomas Lam for pointing this out to us.

Problem 9.3. Explain rigorously the relationship between the scaling limit of planar Ising networks at critical temperature and the unique cyclically symmetric point $X_0 \in OG_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$ from Proposition 3.5.

Our main result establishes a correspondence between total positivity and planar Ising networks, and thus potentially allows to apply results and intuition from one area to another. For example, asymptotic properties of plabic graphs have not yet been studied, while asymptotic properties of planar Ising networks have rich and important well-studied structure. Similarly, the space $\operatorname{Gr}_{\geq 0}(k, n)$ is usually studied in the context of *cluster algebras* and *canonical bases* of Lusztig, see e.g. [FZ02, Lus97]. For instance, Theorem 3.14 expresses Griffiths' inequalities as positive linear sums of minors of $\phi(M)$. But the theory of cluster algebras gives a much larger family of rational functions of the minors that all take positive values on $\operatorname{Gr}_{\geq 0}(k, n)$.

Problem 9.4. Give an interpretation of the values of other cluster variables in the cluster algebra of the Grassmannian in terms of the planar Ising model.

Another direction is related to Question 3.24 and the discussion after it: what is the minimal number of minors one needs to check in order to test whether a given element $X \in OG(n, 2n)$ belongs to $OG_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$? A similar question for electrical networks has been discussed in [Ken12, Section 4.5.3]. This question also makes sense when X belongs to a lower-dimensional cell inside $OG_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$. Note also that in the case of the Grassmannian, collections of such minors have a very nice structure [OPS15] as they form *clusters* in the associated cluster algebra. It is not clear to us whether there exists a similar "cluster structure" on $OG_{>0}(n, 2n)$.

Finally, there has been a rich interplay between the areas of scattering amplitudes and total positivity, giving rise to canonical differential forms on positroid cells inside $\operatorname{Gr}_{\geq 0}(k, n)$, see [AHT14, AHBC⁺16, AHBL17, GL18]. A similar result for electrical networks can be found in [Ken12, Theorem 4.13], which gives an explicit expression for the Jacobian of a certain natural map. In [HWX14, Section 2.4.2], an expression for another Jacobian was given for $\operatorname{OG}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$ in the context of ABJM scattering amplitudes. It would thus be interesting to understand their Jacobian in the language of planar Ising networks, as well as develop an analog of the amplituhedron [AHT14] for which $\operatorname{OG}_{\geq 0}(n, 2n)$ plays the role of $\operatorname{Gr}_{>0}(k, n)$.

References

- [AHBC⁺16] Nima Arkani-Hamed, Jacob Bourjaily, Freddy Cachazo, Alexander Goncharov, Alexander Postnikov, and Jaroslav Trnka. Grassmannian Geometry of Scattering Amplitudes. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2016.
- [AHBL17] Nima Arkani-Hamed, Yuntao Bai, and Thomas Lam. Positive geometries and canonical forms. arXiv:1703.04541, 2017.

[AHT14] Nima Arkani-Hamed and Jaroslav Trnka. The amplituhedron. *Journal of High Energy Physics*, 2014(10):30, Oct 2014.

- [BCFW05] Ruth Britto, Freddy Cachazo, Bo Feng, and Edward Witten. Direct proof of the tree-level scattering amplitude recursion relation in Yang-Mills theory. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 94(18):181602, 4, 2005.
- [BdT12] Cédric Boutillier and Béatrice de Tilière. Height representation of XOR-Ising loops via bipartite dimers. arXiv:1211.4825v2, 2012.
- [Bjö84] A. Björner. Posets, regular CW complexes and Bruhat order. *European J. Combin.*, 5(1):7–16, 1984.

- [BPZ84a] A. A. Belavin, A. M. Polyakov, and A. B. Zamolodchikov. Infinite conformal symmetry in two-dimensional quantum field theory. *Nuclear Phys. B*, 241(2):333–380, 1984.
- [BPZ84b] A. A. Belavin, A. M. Polyakov, and A. B. Zamolodchikov. Infinite conformal symmetry of critical fluctuations in two dimensions. J. Statist. Phys., 34(5-6):763–774, 1984.
- [CDCH⁺14] Dmitry Chelkak, Hugo Duminil-Copin, Clément Hongler, Antti Kemppainen, and Stanislav Smirnov. Convergence of Ising interfaces to Schramm's SLE curves. C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris, 352(2):157–161, 2014.
- [CdVGV96] Yves Colin de Verdière, Isidoro Gitler, and Dirk Vertigan. Réseaux électriques planaires. II. Comment. Math. Helv., 71(1):144–167, 1996.
- [CHI15] Dmitry Chelkak, Clément Hongler, and Konstantin Izyurov. Conformal invariance of spin correlations in the planar Ising model. Ann. of Math. (2), 181(3):1087–1138, 2015.
- [CIM98] E. B. Curtis, D. Ingerman, and J. A. Morrow. Circular planar graphs and resistor networks. Linear Algebra Appl., 283(1-3):115–150, 1998.
- [CS12] Dmitry Chelkak and Stanislav Smirnov. Universality in the 2D Ising model and conformal invariance of fermionic observables. *Invent. Math.*, 189(3):515–580, 2012.
- [DC16] Hugo Duminil-Copin. Random currents expansion of the Ising model. arXiv:1607.06933v2, 2016.
- [DCL17] Hugo Duminil-Copin and Marcin Lis. On the double random current nesting field. arXiv:1712.02305v1, 2017.
- [dT14] Béatrice de Tilière. Bipartite dimer representation of squared 2d-Ising correlations. arXiv:1407.6274v2, 2014.
- [Dub11] Julien Dubédat. Exact bosonization of the Ising model. arXiv:1112.4399v1, 2011.
- [FP16] Miriam Farber and Alexander Postnikov. Arrangements of equal minors in the positive Grassmannian. Adv. Math., 300:788–834, 2016.
- [FZ02] Sergey Fomin and Andrei Zelevinsky. Cluster algebras. I. Foundations. J. Amer. Math. Soc., 15(2):497–529 (electronic), 2002.
- [GBK78] J. Groeneveld, R.J. Boel, and P.W. Kasteleyn. Correlation-function identities for general planar ising systems. *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications*, 93(1):138 154, 1978.
- [GHS70] Robert B. Griffiths, C. A. Hurst, and S. Sherman. Concavity of magnetization of an Ising ferromagnet in a positive external field. J. Mathematical Phys., 11:790–795, 1970.
- [GKL17] Pavel Galashin, Steven N. Karp, and Thomas Lam. The totally nonnegative Grassmannian is a ball. arXiv:1707.02010, 2017.
- [GKL18] Pavel Galashin, Steven N. Karp, and Thomas Lam. The totally nonnegative part of G/P is a ball. arXiv:1801.08953, 2018.
- [GL18] Pavel Galashin and Thomas Lam. Parity duality for the amplituhedron. arXiv:1805.00600, 2018.
- [Gri67] Robert B. Griffiths. Correlations in Ising Ferromagnets. I. Journal of Mathematical Physics, 8(3):478–483, 1967.
- [HK18] Patricia Hersh and Richard Kenyon. Shellability of face posets of electrical networks and the CW poset property. arXiv:1803.06217v1, 2018.
- [Hoc75] Melvin Hochster. Topics in the homological theory of modules over commutative rings. Published for the Conference Board of the Mathematical Sciences by the American Mathematical Society, Providence, R.I., 1975.
- [HS10] Andre Henriques and David E. Speyer. The multidimensional cube recurrence. *Adv. Math.*, 223(3):1107–1136, 2010.
- [HS13] Clément Hongler and Stanislav Smirnov. The energy density in the planar Ising model. Acta Math., 211(2):191–225, 2013.
- [HW13] Yu-Tin Huang and Congkao Wen. ABJM amplitudes and the positive orthogonal Grassmannian. arXiv:1309.3252v2, 2013.
- [HWX14] Yu-Tin Huang, Congkao Wen, and Dan Xie. The positive orthogonal Grassmannian and loop amplitudes of ABJM. J. Phys. A, 47(47):474008, 48, 2014.
- [Isi25] E. Ising. Beitrag zur Theorie des Ferromagnetismus. Zeitschrift fur Physik, 31:253–258, February 1925.

PAVEL	GALASHIN	AND	PAVLO	PYLYAV	SKYY

- [Kar17] Steven N. Karp. Sign variation, the Grassmannian, and total positivity. J. Combin. Theory Ser. A, 145:308–339, 2017.
- [Kar18] Steven N. Karp. Moment curves and cyclic symmetry for positive Grassmannians. arXiv:1805.06004v1, 2018.
- [Kau49] Bruria Kaufman. Crystal Statistics. II. Partition Function Evaluated by Spinor Analysis. Phys. Rev., 76:1232–1243, Oct 1949.
- [Ken12] R. Kenyon. The Laplacian on planar graphs and graphs on surfaces. In Current developments in mathematics, 2011, pages 1–55. Int. Press, Somerville, MA, 2012.
- [KP16] Richard Kenyon and Robin Pemantle. Double-dimers, the Ising model and the hexahedron recurrence. J. Combin. Theory Ser. A, 137:27–63, 2016.
- [KS68] D. G. Kelly and S. Sherman. General Griffiths' Inequalities on Correlations in Ising Ferromagnets. Journal of Mathematical Physics, 9(3):466–484, 1968.
- [KW41] H. A. Kramers and G. H. Wannier. Statistics of the two-dimensional ferromagnet. I. Phys. Rev. (2), 60:252–262, 1941.
- [KW11] Richard W. Kenyon and David B. Wilson. Boundary partitions in trees and dimers. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 363(3):1325–1364, 2011.
- [Lam14] Thomas Lam. Electroid varieties and a compactification of the space of electrical networks. arXiv:1402.6261, 2014.
- [Lam15] Thomas Lam. The uncrossing partial order on matchings is Eulerian. J. Combin. Theory Ser. A, 135:105–111, 2015.
- [Lam16] Thomas Lam. Totally nonnegative Grassmannian and Grassmann polytopes. In Current developments in mathematics 2014, pages 51–152. Int. Press, Somerville, MA, 2016.
- [Lis17] Marcin Lis. The planar Ising model and total positivity. J. Stat. Phys., 166(1):72–89, 2017.
- [LP15] Thomas Lam and Pavlo Pylyavskyy. Electrical networks and Lie theory. Algebra Number Theory, 9(6):1401–1418, 2015.
- [Lus94] G. Lusztig. Total positivity in reductive groups. In *Lie theory and geometry*, volume 123 of *Progr. Math.*, pages 531–568. Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA, 1994.
- [Lus97] George Lusztig. Total positivity and canonical bases. In Algebraic groups and Lie groups, volume 9 of Austral. Math. Soc. Lect. Ser., pages 281–295. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1997.
- [LW16] Titus Lupu and Wendelin Werner. A note on Ising random currents, Ising-FK, loop-soups and the Gaussian free field. *Electron. Commun. Probab.*, 21:Paper No. 13, 7, 2016.
- [Ons44] Lars Onsager. Crystal statistics. I. A two-dimensional model with an order-disorder transition. *Phys. Rev.* (2), 65:117–149, 1944.
- [OPS15] Suho Oh, Alexander Postnikov, and David E. Speyer. Weak separation and plabic graphs. *Proc. Lond. Math. Soc.* (3), 110(3):721–754, 2015.
- [Pal07] John Palmer. *Planar Ising correlations*, volume 49 of *Progress in Mathematical Physics*. Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, 2007.
- [Pos07] Alexander Postnikov. Total positivity, Grassmannians, and networks. Preprint, http:// math.mit.edu/~apost/papers/tpgrass.pdf, 2007.
- [PSW09] Alexander Postnikov, David Speyer, and Lauren Williams. Matching polytopes, toric geometry, and the totally non-negative Grassmannian. J. Algebraic Combin., 30(2):173–191, 2009.
- [Rie98] Konstanze Christina Rietsch. Total positivity and real flag varieties. ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, 1998. Thesis (Ph.D.)–Massachusetts Institute of Technology.
- [Rie99] Konstanze Rietsch. An algebraic cell decomposition of the nonnegative part of a flag variety. J. Algebra, 213(1):144–154, 1999.
- [Sco06] J. S. Scott. Grassmannians and cluster algebras. Proc. London Math. Soc. (3), 92(2):345–380, 2006.
- [Ska04] Mark Skandera. Inequalities in products of minors of totally nonnegative matrices. J. Algebraic Combin., 20(2):195–211, 2004.
- [Smi10] Stanislav Smirnov. Conformal invariance in random cluster models. I. Holomorphic fermions in the Ising model. Ann. of Math. (2), 172(2):1435–1467, 2010.
- [SMJ78] Mikio Sato, Tetsuji Miwa, and Michio Jimbo. Holonomic quantum fields. I. Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci., 14(1):223–267, 1978.

48

- [Tal08] Kelli Talaska. A formula for Plücker coordinates associated with a planar network. *Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN*, pages Art. ID rnn 081, 19, 2008.
- [Yan52] C. N. Yang. The spontaneous magnetization of a two-dimensional Ising model. Physical Rev. (2), 85:808–816, 1952.

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, MASSACHUSETTS INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY, CAMBRIDGE, MA 02139, USA

Email address: galashin@mit.edu

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, UNIVERSITY OF MINNESOTA, MINNEAPOLIS, MN 55414, USA *Email address:* ppylyavs@umn.edu